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Corporate Profile

Linmark Group Limited, listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in May 2002, is a one-stop
global sourcing agent. With presence in 37 cities in 25 countries
and territories, the Group offers comprehensive and efficient
sourcing solutions to its customers, the majority of whom are
leading retail chain operators, well-known brands, wholesalers,
mail order houses and department stores in North America,
Europe, Asia and the southern hemisphere. Linmark is also one
of the constituent stocks on the Hang Seng HK SmallCap Index
under the Hang Seng Composite Index.
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Event Highlights
RERE

2004

26 May 2004

Linmark formed a strategic partnership with
subordinate organisations of the China National Textile
& Apparel Council (formerly known as the Textile
Ministry), the national federation of all textile related
industries in China, to jointly promote China’s textile
and apparel industry in the global marketplace.
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September 2004

Linmark has been ranked one of the top ten Hong
Kong listed companies with the hest corporate
governance practlce in a survey undertaken
by the City University of Hong Kong and sponsored by
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

31 December 2004

Linmark’s wholly owned subsidiary has completed the
acquisition of the business and assets of Tamarind
International Limited, an integrated sourcing services
provider principally engaged in the design and
sourcing of goods ranging from apparel to fashion
accessories, toys, homewares, gifts and jewellery.

2005

25-26 March 2005

Linmark through Roly International co-hosted China’s
biggest department store forum for the third
consecutive year. The China Department Store Summit
2005 held in Beijing was hosted by The China
Commerce Association of General Merchandise
(CCAGM) and supported by the Ministry of Commerce
of the People’s Republic of China.

March 2005
Presentation at the Bear Stearns Annual Retail
Conference in New York
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26 October 2004

Linmark celebrated its 40th anniversary and
announced the first donation to Chi Heng Foundation
out of the Linmark Corporate Social Responsibilities
Fund.
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Aprll 2005

Presentation at the AAFA (American Apparel &
Footwear Association) International Sourcing, Customs
and Logistics Integration Conference in New Orleans
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24 October 2004

China National Textile & Apparel Council (CNTAC) has
entrusted China Textile Information Center (CTIC) and
Linmark to jointly promote social compliance in
Chinese textile industry and create a China Code of
Conduct in Social Compliance based on internationally
recognised practices including International Labour
Organisation Conventions and the United Nation
Convention on the Rights of the Child as well as
Chinese legal requirements.
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Aprll 2005

speaker at the Global Textile Economic
Forum on the topic: Post Quota Times — Textiles &
Garment Sourcing in China in Beijing
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Global Network
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...Getting closer to our
customers and suppliers
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OPERATING RESULTS
Turnover

EBITDA

Profit from operations
% of net profit to
shipment volume

Profit for the year

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets
Cash reserves

Shareholders’ fund

FINANCIAL RATIO
Current ratio (Times)

Gearing ratio (%)

DIVIDENDS
Interim dividend
(HK cents)
Final dividend
(HK cents)

Full year dividend
(HK cents)
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Financial Highlights
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On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to
present the results of Linmark Group Limited
(“Linmark” or the “Group”) for the year ended 30
April 2005.

| talked about
new customers

In the fiscal 2004 annual report,
Linmark’s growth strategies —
acquisition and diversification in both our customer
base and service offerings. | am pleased to report that
our efforts in the past months delivered solid results.
For the year under review, both Linmark’s top and
bottom lines grew. Our clientele has diversified to
include major customers from Australia, the European
Union (EU) zone and South Africa. We were also
excited to see a more balanced revenue base, with
contribution from our value-added services expanded
to account for approximately 36.2% of the Group's
profit after tax compared to approximately 25.3% in
fiscal 2004.

These results were particularly notable against the
backdrop of interest rate hikes and rising oil price
which  has dampened consumer  sentiment
particularly in the North American markets. Also,
entering 2005, the global sourcing industry was
subjected to another challenge — the elimination of
apparel quotas effective on 1 January 2005, and the
threats of introducing anti-surge mechanism on
Chinese apparel exports by the US and the EU.
Fortunately, the uncertainties brought about by quota
elimination have been mitigated for Linmark, thanks
to its highly effective one-stop global sourcing
network.

The acquisition of Tamarind’s business and assets
completed in December 2004 was a major step
forward in Linmark’s growth. Headquartered in Hong
Kong, Tamarind is an integrated sourcing services
provider, with offices in China. With Tamarind on
board, the Group is able to broaden the geographic
diversity of its customer base to include major
customers in Australia and South Africa as well as its
product offerings to include the design and sourcing
of goods ranging from apparel to fashion accessories,
toys, homewares, gifts and jewellery.
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As China’s GDP continues to grow, the Chinese
domestic market has become a major focus for global
retailers. | am pleased to report that the Group made
important headway in China market development with
a new China customer win and stronger partnership
with Chinese textile authorities. In November 2004,
Linmark signed an agency agreement with Lotus
Group (“Lotus”), one of the fastest growing
hypermarket chains in China with stores located
primarily in coastal areas and provincial capitals. The
Lotus agreement opens the door for Linmark to
source products for the burgeoning Chinese middle
class. On the other hand, the Group has also been
working with the China National Textile & Apparel
Council (CNTAC), the national federation of all textile
related industries in China, and the China Textile
Information Center (CTIC) to develop a China Code of
Conduct in Social Compliance for the textile industry
in China. We believe these initiatives will benefit
Linmark in the long run by enabling us to expand our
China domestic Renminbi business and position
ourselves as a bridge between foreign apparel
markets and the Chinese textile industry.

As the Chairman of the Group, | was particularly
proud of the corporate governance recognition that
Linmark received in September 2004. The Group was
ranked one of the top ten Hong Kong listed
companies with the best corporate governance
practice in a survey conducted by the City University
of Hong Kong and sponsored by The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Among the other best
performing companies were Hong Kong based blue-
chips corporations, banks and utility companies.
Linmark will continue to work hard in this area to help
foster the culture of corporate governance in Hong
Kong.
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At the time of writing of this report, China apparel
export and the re-valuation pressure on the Renminbi
continue to make news headlines. These events have
significant implications to our customers, and they
are looking to Linmark to guide them through these
uncertain times. With a global network spanning 37
cities, Linmark has played an important role advising
its customers on strategic sourcing planning and
assisting them with one-stop sourcing solutions. We
believe our proven sourcing network and balanced
customer base will shield us from any possible
impacts of the outcome of the quota debates.

Looking ahead, Linmark will continue to diversify its
customer base and grow its value-added services and
hardgoods businesses. Overall, we are optimistic
about our business outlook in fiscal 2006.

In closing, | would like to express my sincere thanks
for the unrelenting efforts and hard work of the
management team
addition, | must thank our shareholders for their
continual support to the Group throughout the year.

in these uncertain times. In

WANG Lu Yen E #E
Chairman £ J&

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
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Business Review

Overview

For the year ended 30 April 2005, the Group recorded a higher
shipment volume of approximately US$747.5 million (equivalent to
HK$5,830.5 million), representing an increase of approximately 4.7%
as compared with last year. Shipment volume in the second half of the
financial year was undermined by the weakened consumer demand in
the North American markets. In addition, temporary changes in our
customers’ buying strategy resulted in order delays or in some cases
cancellation due to uncertainty caused by China’s WTO accession.

The Group’s turnover surged approximately 102.6% to approximately
US$89.8 million (equivalent to HK$700.4 million). The increase was
mainly contributed by the Group’s newly acquired business of
Tamarind (as defined below). Tamarind, operating under a trading
model, contributed a significantly higher turnover from the sales of
merchandise than Linmark itself. Therefore, the Group’s trade
receivables and trade payables grew significantly post Tamarind
acquisition.

Operating expenses increased approximately US$8.3 million
(equivalent to HK$64.7 million) to approximately US$35.1 million
(equivalent to HK$273.8 million). The additional operating expenses of
approximately US$3.2 million (equivalent to HK$25.0 million) was
incurred by the newly acquired businesses. Less that related to the
acquisitions, the additional staff costs of the Group increased by
approximately US$3.5 million (equivalent to HK$27.3 million).

During the year under review, the Group hired more professionals in
China and the Indian Sub-continent and for the five marketing offices
in North America and Europe. The return of the marketing offices was
less than expected in their first year of operation. Although the French
and Los Angeles offices exceeded their targets, the Toronto, New York
and Manchester offices failed to generate significant additional
business and were closed. This is expected to cause a saving to the
Group of approximately US$1.0 million (equivalent to HK$7.8 million)
in the next financial year. Tightening the expense control, the Group
expects to achieve growth for its core business in financial year 2006
without incurring additional costs.

The increase of expenses and reduction of interest income impacted
the growth of the Group’s profit. The Group’s profit after tax amounted
to approximately US$14.8 million (equivalent to HK$115.4 million). Net
profit after tax as a percentage of shipment volume was maintained at
approximately 2.0%. Basic earnings per share was maintained at
approximately 2.3 US cents (equivalent to 17.9 HK cents).
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
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Segmental Analysis

The acquisition of Tamarind business provided Linmark with a more
balanced geographic footprint, putting the southern hemisphere,
namely Australia and South Africa, within the Group’s direct access.

The acquisition of the new businesses increased our business in the
European market significantly and it overtook US as the Group’s
largest revenue contributor in terms of turnover. During the year under
review, turnover from the European market increased from
approximately US$6.0 million (equivalent to HK$46.8 million) to
approximately US$22.5 million (equivalent to HK$175.5 million),
representing approximately 25.1% of the Group’s total turnover. US
represented approximately 22.7% of the total turnover, followed by
Australia with an approximately 13.2% of total turnover. South Africa
accounted for approximately 12.4% and Canada approximately 9.5%.
The Group will continue with its diversification strategy to forge more
extensive geographical reach.

The Group's strategy to boost its value-added services of higher
margins such as its design and social compliance auditing service has
been effective. During the year under review, contribution from value-
added services represented approximately 36.2% of the Group’s net
profit after tax compared to approximately 25.3% in financial year
2004.

For the year under review, the turnover from hardgoods business
amounted to approximately US$12.4 million (equivalent to HK$96.7
million), approximately 51.8% higher than that of the previous
financial year mainly due to the newly acquired businesses.

Acquisition

The Group completed the acquisition of the business and specified
assets and assumption of related liabilities of Tamarind International
Limited (subsequently renamed as Stirling (HK) Limited, “Tamarind”)
on 31 December 2004. Tamarind is an integrated sourcing services
provider principally engaged in the design and sourcing of goods
ranging from apparel to fashion accessories, toys, homewares, gifts
and jewellery.

Tamarind has a mixed customer portfolio, including a number of major
customers from Europe, South Africa and Australia, thereby allowing
the Group to diversify its reliance on markets in North America. The
Tamarind acquisition also allows the Group to capture maximum
synergistic benefits from cross selling and resources sharing.
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YeiE Tamarind 22 75 (8 AR ZE BUAS B8 F &7 0O b 30 o0 i
A B AT B AT AR R (BRI R IE) 135 o

W RS T TS E A SR BAEBUM T35 RO TS R85 0 -+ 1%
EEBETE - HAIBNMSEBUEETEK ARE
ERmWARRME - REBEFE - REBUNTISH
& Z£ 58 /R 496,000,000%% 7T (185574 46,800,0007% 7T) 14
I ZE %922,500,000% 7t (48 % 7 175,500,0009% 7T)
HENRAEBBELERELN5.1% - EEHEREBR
EEBEN27% ERBREN  HHBEEE
13.2% * FEHEAEETEI24%  ME XA ER
BHETIL% c AEBBEBEZEE S UL BERER -
LAY R 3£ B hin |8 o

BERBOEMNERS - AEBRSIEERS (F40
R M EEERETAERERS) RIS B K
Mo NEEFEA  BERBHERMBEERAEER
BikmMA362% —ZETHHHRFELDO AR
25.3% °

REBEFERN  TB2ERFREBESHGEN - HEIRE
¥ KM L ¥4 E 12,400000% T (B HF R
96,700,000/ 70) * & F— B KR FE 1 11#4751.8% °

Wi EE

AEBER-_ZETWNF+_A=+T—H TR KE
Tamarind International Limited (& 5 % & Stirling
(HK) Limited + [Tamarindl) B 3 7% & 5 & & 7= 8L
EEBAE - - Tamarind A—REAFRBERBGHEE
B FEREXK  KHthEGF A KER

i BmARESFE MR RRE

Tamarind HEBHSHWHETFEE » BHEEBMN - B
ERBRMNZREBRFE  REMAEE D EHILENM
E¥BNAEBRERR XHEHE REAERNSARRR

Z

Y

o

H



The maximum purchase price for the Tamarind acquisition of
approximately US$29.1 million (equivalent to HK$226.6 million) will
be settled by one initial payment in cash and three subsequent
installments over a three-year period. The Group has made the initial
payment of approximately US$19.4 million (equivalent to HK$151.1
million) and the three subsequent installments are subject to
downward adjustments according to certain performance benchmark
levels.

China Developments

Despite the uncertainties ahead in the China apparel industry, it is
clear that China will become one of the most important sourcing hubs
in the years to come. The China market offers both challenges and
opportunities to all market players. To prepare the best for future
opportunities, the Group has been deepening sourcing penetration of
the China market and its partnership with Chinese authorities. On top
of adding two new offices in Guangzhou and Qingdao to strengthen the
sourcing network, Linmark has been working with the China National
Textile & Apparel Council (“CNTAC”), the national federation of all
textile related industries in China, and the China Textile Information
Center (“CTIC”) to develop a Code of Conduct in Social Compliance for
the textile industry in China. A joint venture company with CTIC was
formed to provide services such as textile testing services and social
compliance auditing.

To further strengthen the Group’s presence in the retail industry in
China, Linmark co-hosted, through its parent company Roly
International Holdings Ltd., for the third time, the China Department
Store Summit 2005 in Beijing in March 2005. The summit has become
one of the most distinguished annual events for the retail industry in
China. It also presented overseas companies with a platform to
exchange ideas with Chinese retailers. For Linmark, the annual
summit is an important channel to further strengthen the Group’s
position as the bridge between the retail markets in China and
overseas.

Recognition in Corporate Governance

Linmark was named one of the top ten Hong Kong listed companies
with the best corporate governance practice in September 2004. The
survey undertaken by the City University of Hong Kong and sponsored
by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors was based on international
standards and the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited’s
Recommended Best Practice for Corporate Directors. Some of the best
performing companies include Hong Kong based blue-chips
corporations, banks and utility companies.
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
ITHARRREE

Repurchase of Shares

In addition to general business development, during the year under
review, the Company repurchased 1,902,000 shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at an average price of approximately
HK$2.78 per share. The share buyback reflected management’s
confidence in the future development of the Group’s business.
Furthermore, it also enhanced earnings per share of the Company.

Financial Review

After the initial payment of approximately US$19.4 million (equivalent
to HK$151.1 million) for the Tamarind acquisition, the Group’s
financial position remains strong with bank balances and cash of
approximately US$27.3 million (equivalent to HK$212.9 million) as at
30 April 2005. In addition, the Group has total banking facilities of
approximately US$41.7 million (equivalent to HK$325.3 million).

Following the Tamarind acquisition, the Group’s current ratio changed
from 6.6 as at 30 April 2004 to 2.0 as at 30 April 2005. The Group has
a low gearing ratio of less than 0.04, based on the interest bearing
borrowing of approximately US$2.3 million (equivalent to HK$17.9
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately US$65.3 million
(equivalent to HK$509.3 million) as at 30 April 2005. During the year
under review, the Group’s capital comprised solely shareholders’
equity. There has not been any material change in the Group’s
borrowing since 30 April 2005.

The Group’s net asset value as at 30 April 2005 was approximately
US$65.3 million (equivalent to HK$509.3 million).

As at 30 April 2005, pledges of bank deposits amounted to
approximately US$5.0 million (equivalent to HK$39.0 million) to cover
banking facilities in the ordinary course of business. The Group had no
material contingent liability and there has been no material change
since then.

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated in US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars. Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US
dollar, management believes that exchange risk is not significant at
this time.
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Remuneration Policy and Staff Development Scheme

As at 30 April 2005, the Group had 1,101 staff. The total staff costs for
the year under review amounted to approximately US$22.7 million
(equivalent to HK$177.1 million) (2004: US$16.9 million (equivalent
to HK$131.8 million)). The Group offers competitive remuneration
schemes to its employees based on industry practices, individual and
the Group’s performance. In addition, share options and discretionary
bonuses are also granted to eligible staff based on both the Group’s as
well as individual performance. It also offers fringe benefits such as
professional tuition and training subsidies to staff to enhance their
sense of loyalty and as part of the Group’s emphasis on staff training
and development.

Prospects

Looking ahead, the uncertainties surrounding China’s apparel export
and the re-valuation of the Renminbi are expected to continue.
Nevertheless, supported by its widespread sourcing network, the
Group will continue to grasp business opportunities and offer
comprehensive sourcing services to our international customers. At the
same time, the Group is committed to controlling operating expenses
S0 as to reap maximum benefits from using its global sourcing network
cost effectively.

In May 2005, a major customer reached a new sourcing arrangement
with Linmark. Warnaco Inc (“Warnaco”), who for the year under review
is accounted for almost 11.8% of the Group’s turnover, decided to
expand its direct sourcing capabilities, after experiencing sales growth
with the help of Linmark. Under the new arrangement, Linmark will
work with and assist Warnaco in implementing its China sourcing plan
over the next year. Linmark will continue to exclusively source for
Calvin Klein Jeans®, Chaps Ralph Lauren® and Speedo® offshore. The
increased presence of Warnaco in China will call for additional on-the-
ground support for its direct sourcing needs. Thus, Warnaco intends to
continue using all of the Group’s value-added services such as
compliance auditing and trims and packaging sourcing services inside
and outside of China.

The Group does not expect the change of Warnaco's sourcing
arrangement to have any material impact on it in the next financial
year. With a global network covering 37 cities in 25 countries and
territories, Linmark is capable of providing top-tier global customers
tailored sourcing solutions that meet their changing needs and
strategic business directions.
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
ITHARRREE

Given that more international players are starting or increasing
sourcing in China, the Group is positioning itself as the bridge between
foreign apparel markets and the Chinese textile industry to grasp
business opportunities. Linmark will continue the partnership with the
CNTAC and CTIC and provide quality social compliance auditing
services to manufacturers in China. Supported by the Group’s
extensive experience in auditing and certifying manufacturing facilities
in many countries on behalf of well-known brands and retailers, the
China Code of Conduct in Social Compliance it developed with CNTAC
and CTIC will help the textile industry in China to gain recognition by
the overseas apparel markets.

Linmark sees four major growth drivers for the future. Firstly, we will
continue to implement our diversification strategy including continuing
to expand our hardgoods business. Secondly, Linmark will further its
business in Europe through ISO International (Holdings) Limited and
Tamarind. Thirdly, the Group will also remain open to merger and
acquisition opportunities to help accelerate its growth. Lastly,
expansion of value-added services will also be one of its key pursuits.
In this connection, the Group plans to set up two design or
development hubs and testing laboratory to strengthen the service
scope of the value-added services business.

Based on the current assessment, management maintains an overall
positive view on the Group’s performance for the next financial year.

Steven Julien FENIGER 3% 14
Chief Executive Officer 77 B 48 &

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
BB ZZETERFAAA=ZT/\H
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

bt
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Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 51, is the chairman of the
Company and presently responsible for the Group’s
corporate and strategic planning. Mr. Wang has
also been the chairman of Roly International
Holdings Ltd. (“Roly International”, the ultimate
holding company and listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited) since 2000.
He has been appointed the chairman of Byford
International Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company and listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”), since 10 September 2004. Mr. Wang
joined the Group in 1998.

Mr. Wang has over 25 years of experience in the trading and
distribution business. He was awarded Outstanding Businessman by
Taiwan’s Ministry of Economic Affairs in 1985. Mr. Wang is a member
of the China Overseas Friendship Association, the deputy director
general of the Retails and Supplies Committee in China General
Chamber of Commerce, the vice-chairman of China Committee in
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a member of the Hong
Kong Policy Research Institute Limited, a founder and a director of the
Taiwan Design Center, a director of the Soochow Management
Academic Foundation of Soochow University and the honorary
chairman of Taiwan Business Association (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr.
Wang holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration from
Soochow University, Taiwan.

Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER, aged 46, is the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Feniger has
substantial experience in the apparel industry. Prior
to joining the Group in 2001, Mr. Feniger headed
the Asia and global sourcing division of the US-listed
apparel group, Group, an apparel
manufacturer based in the US. Mr. Feniger also
served in various positions in Marks & Spencer PLC
during a 19-year career and held the position of general manager of
Asia regional head office in Hong Kong from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Feniger
holds a Bachelor of Science degree (with Honours) in Management
Sciences from The Victoria University of Manchester, the UK.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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" Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick, aged 60, is an executive
director of the Company. Mr. Fu joined the Group
in 1969. Mr. Fu has extensive experience in the
sourcing industry in both apparel and hardgoods.
Currently, Mr. Fu oversees a number of the
Group’s major customers in North America and
leads the Group’s hardgoods department and
China focused projects. Mr. Fu holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree from Fu Jen Catholic University of Taiwan and participated
in the “Retail Executive Development Programme” at The University of
British Columbia, Canada.

W Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 47,
director of the Company following his redesignation
from an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 18 May 2005. He has also been
appointed an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Roly International on 18 May
2005. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-
executive director of Lenovo Group Limited, |.T
Limited and China Glass Holdings Limited, all listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong has more than 15 years of
experience in investment banking business in Greater China and was a
director and the chief executive officer of Sing Tao News Corporation
Limited (formerly known as Global China Group Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, prior to
joining Roly International. Mr. Wong is a chartered accountant and
holds a Bachelor of Science degree (with Honours) in Management
Sciences from The Victoria University of Manchester, the UK.

is an executive

-

Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, aged 54,
director of the Company. He has also been an
executive director and the chief financial officer of
Roly International since 1995. Mr. Khoo advises
the Group on corporate finance related matters.
Mr. Khoo has over 10 years of experience in
corporate finance and management
industry. Mr. Khoo worked for an international
accounting firm and an investment bank prior to joining a subsidiary of
Roly International in 1994. Mr.
Administration degree from Southern Methodist University, Dallas,
Texas, the US. Mr. Khoo qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in
the US and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”, formerly known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants).

is an executive

financial

Khoo holds a Master of Business
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Mr. KWOK Chi Kueng, aged 47, is an executive
director and the finance director of the Company
responsible for the finance function of the Group.
Mr. Kwok joined the Group in 1993. He is also the
qualified accountant of the Company. Mr. Kwok
has over 20 years of accounting and financial
management experience gained in Hong Kong and
Canada in the trading and manufacturing
industries. Mr. Kwok holds a Higher Diploma in Accountancy from
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University). Mr. Kwok is an associate member of The Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants (UK) and a fellow member of the
HKICPA.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 44, has been an
independent  non-executive director of the
Company since 2002. Mr. Wang is also the chief
executive officer of GigaMedia Limited, a NASDAQ
listed technology holding company. Previously, Mr.
Wang was a partner of 698 Capital (HK) Limited, a
private company based in Hong Kong whose
principal activity is investment in private high
growth companies in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Wang was also a co-
founder and executive director of KGI Asia Limited, the investment
banking arm of the Koos Group of Taiwan. Mr. Wang also serves on
the board of directors of several finance and technology companies in
the region and was previously a member of the board of Softbank
Investment International (Strategic) Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and a branch of
Softbank Finance Corporation. Mr. Wang received his Juris Doctorate
degree from Yale Law School and practised corporate and securities
law in Hong Kong and New York. He also holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of California at Los Angeles, the US.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden, aged 58, has been an
independent  non-executive director of the
Company since 2003. Dr. Woon is the chief
executive officer of the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce. He served as executive
director of the Washington State China Relations
Council from 1994 to 1997. A career US Air Force
officer who retired as a Colonel in 1993, Dr. Woon
served as China policy advisor for the US Secretary of Defense from
1989 to 1994, and was assigned to the US Embassy in Beijing from
1983 to 1985. Dr. Woon, who has a Ph.D in Mathematics, was an
associate professor of Mathematics in the late 1970s at the US Air
Force Academy. Dr. Woon is a member of the Council on Foreign
Relations. He is on the board of the Hospital Authority, Ocean Park
and the Hong Kong Tennis Foundation. He is also on the Board of
Governors of Hong Kong Design Centre. Dr. Woon is a member of the
Hong Kong Council for Academic Accreditation. He was named
Director of the Year in Hong Kong in the non-profit category in 2001.

Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, aged 57, was appointed
an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 18 May 2005. Mr. Tse is a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, and the HKICPA. Mr. Tse is
a past president of the HKICPA. He joined KPMG
in 1976 and became a partner in 1984 and retired
in March 2003. Mr. Tse was a non-executive
chairman of KPMG’s operations in the PRC and a member of the
KPMG China advisory board from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently
an independent non-executive director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited
and CNOOC Limited, both listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from
The University of Hong Kong.
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Senior Management of the Group

Mr. Manuel Ignacio LOPEZ, aged 48, is the chief operating officer who
oversees the operational management of the Group. Before joining the
Group in 2002, Mr. Lopez was with Li & Fung (Trading) Limited as
general manager of operations. And prior to that, Mr. Lopez served as
executive vice president in charge of operations for Colby International
Limited for 14 years. Mr. Lopez holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from Georgia State University.

Mr. Bruce Charles CAUSTON, aged 57, is a corporate director of the
Group responsible for a number of major customers in North America
and manages on a regional basis the Group’s offices in China. He
joined the Group in 1993 as a general manager of the Indonesian
office and became a regional director in 1996. Mr. Causton has
extensive experience in the trading industry.

Mr. Barry Richard PETTITT, aged 46, is the founder and president of
ISO International (Holdings) Limited, which was acquired by the Group
in November 2003. Mr. Pettitt has over 25 years of procurement,
marketing and sales experiences in the consumer electronic goods
sector.

Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON, aged 46, has been a director and the chief
executive of Tamarind International Limited (“Tamarind”) since April
1991. The Tamarind business was acquired by the Group in
December 2004. Mr. Solomon is primarily responsible for the
development of sales both in terms of signing new accounts and
managing existing customer relationships. Prior to joining Tamarind,
he was the managing director of the Sussan Groups buying office in
Hong Kong. He has over 25 years of extensive experience in Asia in
the areas of apparel, textiles and sundries.

Company Secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 37, is the company secretary of the
Company and Roly International. Ms. Cheung joined a subsidiary of
Roly International in 1997 as an assistant company secretary. Ms.
Cheung has over 10 years of company secretarial experience gained in
listed companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy and is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, the UK.
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Corporate Governance
NGI=P=

The Company has adopted most of the Code Provisions as stated in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) as the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“Code”) of the Company and the
board of directors is committed to complying with the Code to the
extent that the directors consider it is applicable to the Company and
practical.

Recognising the need for
judgement on
management, the board of directors has delegated its authority to fix
the remuneration package of directors and senior management of the
Company and implement the share option scheme to the remuneration
committee (previously known as compensation committee) which
currently comprises five members, the majority of which, including the
chairman, are independent non-executive directors.

making independent and objective
remuneration matters of the board and senior

To stay in line with the current corporate trend, the board of directors
has been reporting the Company’s financial results on a quarterly basis
since the financial year commenced on 1 May 2003. The board aims
at, with the implementation of such reporting schedules, informing
shareholders of the performance of the Group on a more frequent and
timely manner and to further enhance the Company’s relationships
with investors and media.

Board of Directors

The board comprises nine members, three of whom are independent
non-executive directors. The Company has received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of the three independent
non-executive directors pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company considers
that the three independent non-executive directors are independent.

The functions of the board of directors are carried out either directly or
through board committees or by means of a system of delegation of
authority to management personnel. To ensure the board is in a
position to exercise its powers in an informed manner, all members of
the board of directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information and may take independent professional advice if
necessary.
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Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The role of the chairman is separate from that of the chief executive
officer of the Group. Currently, the two positions are held by Mr.
WANG Lu Yen and Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER (who are not related to
each other) respectively.

The chairman’s principal role is to provide leadership for the board
and the executive committee on corporate and strategic planning and
ensure proper proceedings of the board and the executive committee.

Supported by the executive directors and the senior management, the
chief executive officer’s principal role is to manage and operate the
Group’s day-to-day business, including the implementation of major
strategies and initiatives adopted by the board.

Board Committees
As an integral part of good corporate governance, the following
committees have been set up:

Executive Committee

The executive committee consists of all the executive directors of the
Company. The board has delegated the day-to-day management and
operation functions of the Company to the executive committee save to
the extent that the powers and authorities are reserved to the
remuneration committee or the full board. The powers and authorities
reserved to the full board include the approval of the Company’s
financial statements, dividends, change in share capital, change of the
general character or nature of the business of the Company, certain
material transactions and matters involving a conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a director. The authorities reserved to the
remuneration committee are more particularly discussed below.

Audit Committee
The audit committee comprises the three independent non-executive
directors of the Company as follows:

WANG Arthur Minshiang
WOON Yi Teng, Eden
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
WONG Wai Ming

(chairman of the audit committee)

(appointed on 18 May 2005)

(ceased to be a member of the audit
committee on 18 May 2005 upon his
redesignation from an independent non-
executive director to an executive director)
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Corporate Governance
NEIER

The audit committee was set up with written terms of reference
prepared based on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” published
by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (as it was then known) and
the Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the
Company’s annual reports and accounts, interim reports and quarterly
results announcements and to provide advice and comments thereon
to the directors. The members meet regularly with the external auditors
and the Company’s senior management for the review and supervision
of the Company'’s financial reporting and internal control procedures.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee (formerly known as compensation

committee), comprises five members, the majority of which are

independent non-executive directors, as follows:

WOON Yi Teng, Eden (appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee on 18 May 2005)

WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

WANG Lu Yen

Steven Julien FENIGER

WONG Wai Ming

(appointed on 18 May 2005)

(ceased to be a member and the chairman
of the remuneration committee on 18 May
2005 upon his redesignation from an
independent non-executive director to an
executive director)

The remuneration committee has adopted written terms of reference
prepared by reference to the suggested terms of reference stated in
Note B.1.3 of the Code.

The remuneration committee has been delegated with the powers and
authorities to implement the share option scheme of the Company and
to deal with all compensation matters regarding the directors and
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance
with the terms and conditions of their respective agreement/contract
with the relevant member of the Group. No director is allowed to be
involved in deciding his own remuneration package.
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Investor Relations
KREEBEIZR

Transparency has always been an important theme in Linmark’s
investor relations campaign. During the year under review, the Group
focused on disseminating information on a regular and proactive basis
to enable investors to make the most informed investment decisions.

Meetings and conferences continued to be important tools in achieving
the investor relations goals. During the year under review, the Group
organised two investor group presentations following its interim and
final results announcements, five investor conferences and 70 one-on-
one investor meetings for in-depth discussions. An analyst conference
call was arranged shortly after the announcement of the Tamarind
acquisition to explain to analysts benefits and synergies of the deal.

The Group also used media relations to enhance its transparency.
Press conferences were organised after its interim and final results
announcements, and Linmark’s management was regularly featured in
key financial media such as Bloomberg TV and the Asian Wall Street
Journal for points of views on the industry and the Group’s business
updates. Efforts were also made in providing media and investors with
background of the industry, information on market trends and
prospects to assist them in gaining better insights of Linmark’s
business.

Two investor audits were carried out during the year under review.
Management regards the responses collected as valuable information
in helping it to evaluate the Group’s investor relations strategy. It will
continue to be an effective instrument in enhancing mutual
understanding between the Group and the investment community in
general.
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Investor Relations
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Analyst Contact Information 7 41 5 B 4% & &

Cazenove Asia Limited EHIZMER AT
Simon Coxeter

Spgi

simon.coxeter@cazenove.com

T: (852) 2123 0306 F: (852) 2868 1411

DBS Vickers (Hong Kong) Limited DBS M S EEB AR A T
Alice Hui

= B8

alice_hui@hk.dbsvickers.com

T: (852) 2971 1960 F: (852) 2521 1812

G.K. Goh Securities (H.K.) Ltd. R E&Ki[ % (F#8) GR AT
Renee Tai

B

tai.renee@gkgoh.com

T:(852) 2532 1116 F: (852) 2537 1547

Kim Eng Securities (Hong Kong) Ltd. £ EIEF(FB)ER QT
Mavis Hui

G

mavishui@kimeng.com.hk

T: (852) 2268 0643 F: (852) 2877 0104

Macquarie Securities Limited ZHREESFRHER QT
Paul Quah

1] 8 15

paul.quah@macquarie.com

T: (852) 2823 4627 F: (852) 2823 3560

SBI E2-Capital Research Limited ZEELEWRZREER L T
Carrie Chan

FeR A 3

carriechan@softbank.com.hk

T: (852) 2533 3708 F: (852) 2533 3733
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Directors’ Report
EEewpes

The directors present their report together with the audited financial

statements for the year ended 30 April 2005.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities

of its subsidiaries are set out in Nofe 34 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year under review by
business and geographical segments is set out in Note 7 to the financial

statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2005 are set out in

the consolidated income statement on page 55.

An interim dividend of 2.63 HK cents per share totalling approximately
US$2,208,000 was declared and paid to the shareholders during the
year under review. The directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 4.8 HK cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 April
2005. Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, the final dividend will be paid in cash
on or about 26 August 2005 to shareholders whose names appear on

the register of members of the Company on 19 August 2005.
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Major acquisition

During the year under review, the Group acquired the business and
specified assets and to assume the related liabilities of Tamarind
International Limited (subsequently renamed as Stirling (HK) Limited,
“Tamarind”), a company principally engaged in the design and sourcing
of goods ranging from apparel to fashion accessories, toys, homewares,
gifts and jewellery. The maximum purchase price for the Tamarind
acquisition of approximately US$29.1 million will be settled by one initial
payment in cash and three subsequent installments over a three-year
period. The Group has made the initial payment of approximately
US$19.4 million and the three subsequent installments are subject to
downward adjustments according to certain performance benchmark

levels.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year under review are set out in Note 16 to the financial

statements.

Share capital

During the year under review, the Company repurchased certain of its
own shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”). The directors considered that the repurchase would

enhance the earnings per share of the Company.

Details of such repurchase and other movements in the share capital of
the Company during the year under review are set out in Note 27 to the

financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year under review

are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report
EEEREE

Distributable reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 April 2005, calculated
under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and consisted of the
aggregate of share premium, contributed surplus and retained earnings,
amounted to approximately US$36,374,000 (2004: US$37,847,000).

Share options

The Company’s share option scheme (“Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to a resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
persons for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company or a
committee thereof may grant options to eligible persons (see summary
below) to subscribe for shares in the Company. Pursuant to an ordinary
resolution relating to the amendments to the Scheme passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 August 2004, the
exclusion of Mr. WANG Lu Yen from participating in the Scheme so long
as he remains as a substantial shareholder (as such term is construed in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)) of the Company has been removed.

Summary of the Scheme is as follows:

1. Eligible persons

The eligible persons under the Scheme include:

(i) any director or proposed director (whether executive or non-
executive, including any independent non-executive director),
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time) of any member of the Group or any controlling
shareholder of the Company or any company controlled by a

controlling shareholder of the Company; or
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Share options (continued)

Eligible persons (continued)

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or any
company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the

Company; or

(ili) any business partner, agent, consultant, representative,
supplier of goods or services or customer of any member of
the Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the

Company.

Maximum number of shares

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue immediately following the listing

of the Company’s shares.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 5 August
2003, the Company’s shareholders approved the refreshment of
the Scheme mandate and the total number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company was re-set at 10%
of the shares in issue on 5 August 2003, the date of approval of the

refreshment.
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Share options (continued)

2.

30

Maximum number of shares (continued)
Subject to the approval by the Company’s shareholders, the
aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in
issue from time to time. Options granted to the independent non-
executive directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million resulting in the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of options already granted and to be
granted to such person under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of such option must be approved in

advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to any eligible persons
(including those cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in
any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by the

Company’s shareholders in general meeting.
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Share options (continued)

4.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days inclusive of the
day on which such offer was made, upon payment of HK$1 per
option. Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the
date as the board may determine and ending on such date as the
board may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of grant and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme
Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in accordance with
the rules governing the Scheme, the Scheme will expire on 22 April

2012.
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Share options (continued) BRE 2
Movement of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted REBEFEARTARAIESRIEES (M) 7]
to the directors of the Company and employees (Note iii) during the year REARARHO2EREZSHBEROT ¢

under review was as follows:

Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company

ARRARHZBRE
HBEZEXARARGEE
Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
as at as at price Date of
1 May 2004 Exercised Lapsed 30 April 2005 per share grant Exercise period
(HK$)
R-EZENF R-BEIF
EA—H B=+H s34
R AT ki P4 i R AT 6 fTEE B A 1766 B PR
(&)
Directors
=
Steven Julien 6,240,000 — — 6,240,000 2.550  21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
FENIGER 1,660,000 — — 1,660,000 2.220  27/06/2002  27/06/2003-26/06/2008
B 4,700,000 — — 4,700,000 1.600  06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
(Note i) 1,960,000 — — 1,960,000 2.125  30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
(Kfz£i) 3,200,000 — — 3,200,000 2.975  30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
17,760,000 — — 17,760,000(Note i) ([t i)
FU Jin Ming, 4,200,000 — — 4,200,000 2.550  21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
Patrick 1,200,000 (600,000) — 600,000 1.600  06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
HiEH 830,000 — — 830,000 2.125  30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
1,000,000 — — 1,000,000 2.975  30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
7,230,000 (600,000) — 6,630,000
KHOO Kim 3,800,000 — — 3,800,000 2.550  21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
Cheng 2,200,000 — — 2,200,000 1.600  06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
B 3% 7R 920,000 — — 920,000 2.125  30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
1,400,000 — — 1,400,000 2.975  30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
8,320,000 — — 8,320,000
KWOK Chi 3,000,000 — — 3,000,000 2.550  21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
Kueng 1,080,000 — — 1,080,000 1.600  06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
ML 830,000 — — 830,000 2.125  30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
1,000,000 — — 1,000,000 2.975  30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
5,910,000 — — 5,910,000
Continuous contract 11,225,000 (339,000) (392,000) 10,494,000 2.550  21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
employees 5,160,000 (960,000) — 4,200,000 1.600  06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
BESNER 2,970,000 (1,160,000) - 1,810,000 2.125  30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
(Note iii) 9,500,000 — (790,000) 8,710,000 2.975  30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
(B & iii)
28,855,000 (2,459,000) (1,182,000) 25,214,000
Total 68,075,000 (3,059,000) (1,182,000) 63,834,000
A%
(Note iv)
(K aFiv)
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Share options (continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 17,760,000 shares of the Company
were granted to Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER, an executive director of the
Company. The number of shares underlying such options (i.e. 17,760,000
shares in aggregate) are in excess of the individual limit permitted under the
rules of the Scheme and the Listing Rules. Approval from shareholders of the
Company in relation to the grant of options in excess of the individual limit to
Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER was obtained at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 13 September 2002 and special general meetings of the
Company held on 11 March 2003 and 5 August 2003 respectively. Details of
the grant of such options are disclosed in the Company’s circulars dated 19
August 2002, 14 February 2003 and 17 July 2003, respectively.

The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet immediately before the dates on which the
options were granted were as follows:

Date of grant

‘EAH

21 May 2002 —EE-_FRA-+—H
27 June 2002 —ETE-FAA=Z++tH
6 November 2002 —ZEE_&F+—-AKH
30 May 2003 —ET=FRA=T+H
30 March 2004 —TENME=A=+H

Employees include employees of the Group and of the subsidiaries of Roly
International Holdings Ltd. (“Roly International”) (other than the directors of
the Company) working under employment contracts with the Group or
subsidiaries of Roly International which are regarded as “continuous contracts”
for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong).

The weighted average closing price of the shares on the trading days
immediately preceding the exercise of the share options was HK$2.957.

BRE e

At -

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RARHITESDAEEEEETARBAA
%NJ@@%&&@Z%&%o%%%&%Z@%
P8R (B4 $£17,760,0008%) B Z =T 2148 A &
EWRAFFAIZEALR - RRRIEHFIR=ZZZ
ZHENAT=BEIZRERFAGURZTE =
F=R+-—BR-ET=FN\ARABRITZBRERF
AlRegE pEFeLHEHEEBABEEALRZ
BBAVEES AR RIRRAE - ZEWREZREF
BESRR-ZZZ_FN\A+NE ZEZT=F_
AtMAR=ZZE=F+tA+tBHBEZAARB
Bk 30

Bz ARMERMAIIARRRNDNEER
FRBRERLBARNZRZAZHETENT :

Bt 32 P

Closing price

per share immediately
before the date of grant
(HK$)
KERHLAHA
ZERKNE

(&)

2.600
2.075
1.550
2.100
2.950

EEBRERIEMEAEBEKR Roly International
Holdings Ltd. (2B ZER AR 2 F) ([ 2
B ZMBRRAI I ZEBE L (BB EHES7
ZERBEOITNE  ERAFESN]IE) XBRAK
SERHERzEMN-—HANBARIEZEES
(KRBEFHRIN)

BRORBEERERITENZRS A ZMEFGK
HEE29578 T °
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Share options (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)

34

The options granted are not recognised in the financial statements until they
are exercised, and no charge is recorded in the income statement or balance
sheet for their cost. Upon the exercise of the options, the resulting shares to be
issued will be recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares will be recorded by the Company in the
share premium account. Save for the options referred to in the above table
which have lapsed during the year ended 30 April 2005, no option has lapsed
or been cancelled during the year ended 30 April 2005. As at 30 April 2005,
options carrying rights to subscribe for 63,834,000 shares of the Company
were outstanding.

The directors consider that it is not appropriate to state the value of the share
options granted to the eligible persons during the year under review on the
ground that there are serious limitations in the application of the Black-Scholes
Model and the Binomial Model in the valuation of share options, especially
there are a number of variables which are crucial for the calculation of the
options value thus rendering such value cannot be reasonably determined.
Accordingly, the directors believe that any valuation of the share options based
on a great number of speculative assumptions would not be meaningful and
may be misleading to the shareholders.
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Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the

date of this report were:

Executive directors
WANG Lu Yen

Steven Julien FENIGER
FU Jin Ming, Patrick
WONG Wai Ming (redesignated from an independent non-
executive director to an executive director
on 18 May 2005)

KHOO Kim Cheng

KWOK Chi Kueng

Independent non-executive directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang
WOON Yi Teng, Eden
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (appointed on 18 May 2005)

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, Messrs.
WONG Wai Ming and KWOK Chi Kueng will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. TSE
Hau Yin, Aloysius will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

BEEREERBEY
AOBEFARBEEAFEETEBHBHIEART
ZHEMAESEMT ¢

BITES

T#%E

3B fay 15

{5 1% 7

=EH (R-ZEZTAFFEA+N\BHBILFE

HTEFHEIRATES)

BB 5 5%
HE®R

BIYFHITES
TEE
SE
WENT (RZZEEZRFRATNBEZE)
REBARRZRBEIARAFES7(DK - HEPLEE
EBERLESNERERRBEFARE LEER -

8 % 4 2 I 3 R R AT

RIEARB 2 RAEIABRIFES6(2)1F - #EITE
BREERRBFAE LER  ERTAEER

I FEE & B -
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Directors and directors’ service contracts (continued)

Each of Messrs. WANG Lu Yen, Steven Julien FENIGER, FU Jin Ming,
Patrick, KHOO Kim Cheng and KWOK Chi Kueng has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
from 1 May 2002, and will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party by giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.
There is no service contract entered into between the Company and Mr.
WONG Wai Ming. Pursuant to the letter of appointment entered into
between the Company and Mr. Wong, as amended, Mr. Wong has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company for
a term of two years commencing on 1 May 2002 and the term of Mr.
Wong has been renewed for a further two years. With effect from 18 May
2005, the letter of appointment has been amended to redesignate Mr.
Wong from an independent non-executive director to an executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wong is subject to retirement and re-
election at annual general meeting in accordance with the code on

corporate governance practices and the bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden and Mr. TSE Hau
Yin, Aloysius were appointed on 22 April 2002, 28 January 2003 and 18
May 2005 respectively. Each of their term of appointment is for a term of
two years and the terms of Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang and Dr. WOON
Yi Teng, Eden have been renewed for a further two years. The
independent non-executive directors have the right to terminate their
respective appointments at any time by giving the Company at least one

month’s notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all the independent

non-executive directors to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 30 April 2005, the interests and short positions of the directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and
its associated corporations

Company/Name
of associated

EERAQFAREEBEZE 2RD - 18
ROKRESD 2R
R-ZFZERFOA=1+H  ARAZEFERIT
BAEBRNARASZEEAEEEE (EEREE
EPIESTIEZ S MBI ([EHLHE K
f511) EEXVED) 2 Bxfn ~ WA RESFTHEEZR
FEARRAIREBERESF LG RIIFEI2GEFEL
Frffzgmloir  H(WHFE)RELTA
AEFETESRZZBRETRAMEARA
KR ZERRARIT ¢

(a RAQXAREEBZIEZROF 2%
wRKRE

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class

Number and class of securities as

corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2005
(Note 1)

R=-ZZIF

mA=+AH

ARTEWHEEE EREREH P

25 EEpE 514 BHEHEERER ZREBSDE
(K1zF1)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 620,000 0.09%
XA A] Fi%E Em#EB A ordinary shares
(L)

Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of a controlled 437,340,000 66.70%
PiN/NE] T corporation ordinary shares
SEGEE 2 g il
(Note 2) (L)

(Kizt2)
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and

its associated corporations (continued)

Company/Name
of associated
corporations

AAT B EE
257

Company
A A]

Company
ZN/NE]

Company
PAN/N)|

Roly International
2l B
(Note 3)
(K1at3)

Roly International
=400

(Note 3)

(Kt ##3)
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Name of directors

EEnA

FU Jin Ming, Patrick

% 1% B

KHOO Kim Cheng

BB 5 5%

WANG Arthur
Minshiang
F &

WANG Lu Yen
T

WANG Lu Yen
F 1A

Capacity

Beneficial owner

BEmBEEA

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Beneficial owner

EamBEA A

Beneficial owner
Em#EE A

Interest of spouse

Ao {8 2 # =
(Note 4)
(Kt a4

EERARAREEEZIEZR®G - HE

BRoREFPZ2EDR (&)

(a) RELTAREMEELIB 2RO &
mRRBE (&)

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

at 30 April 2005

Number and class
of securities

(Note 1)

R=-ZEZHF

A=+H

ERERES P

BEHERER ZREBS
(Mt 1)

326,000 0.05%
ordinary shares
(L)

170,000 0.03%
ordinary shares
LEAR
(L)

260,000 0.04%
ordinary shares
(L)

20,200,000 4.93%
ordinary shares
(L)

350,000 0.09%

ordinary shares
il

(L)



EERARATRAREEBEZEIEZRSG - HE

BRoOREFPZER (#)

(a) REQATAREMEHIBZROT &
mRRBE (&)

Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and
its associated corporations (continued)

Company/Name
of associated

Number and class

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2005
(Note 1)
R-ZZRF
mWA=+H
AT EHEE ERERESH
ZEB BEEnR 56 HEHERER ZREBD
(Bt 1)
Roly International WANG Lu Yen Interest of a controlled 121,243,500 29.58%
E AR F1%E corporation ordinary shares
(Note 3) SRR R B
(M &£3) (Note 5) (L)
(Kt725)
Roly International FU Jin Ming, Patrick Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.73%
E AR H&A BEDlEAEA ordinary shares
(Note 3) B
(B 5£3) (L)
Roly International KHOO Kim Cheng Beneficial owner 3,522,000 0.86%
e £ 88 R Em#EB A ordinary shares
(Note 3) il
(HtiF3) (L
Roly International KWOK Chi Kueng Beneficial owner 482,000 0.12%
E AR et EmHEAA ordinary shares
(Note 3) B
(B 5£3) (L)
Byford International WANG Lu Yen Interest of a controlled 134,609,990 67.30%
Limited (“Byford”) F A corporation ordinary shares
AEEKRBERAQA REGEE 2 TER
(ra=sl) (Note 7) (L)
(Note 6) (K5E7)
(Htite)
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and

its associated corporations (continued)

Company/Name
of associated
corporations

AAT B EE
257

Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd.
(Note 8)
(K1eL8)

Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd.
(Note 8)

(Kt :#8)

Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd.
(Note 8)
(Ht:£8)

Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd.
(Note 8)
(K1eL8)

Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd.
(Note 8)

(Kt :#8)
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Name of directors

EEnA

WANG Lu Yen

T

Steven Julien FENIGER

B fa

FU Jin Ming, Patrick
18 & B

KHOO Kim Cheng
BB £7 5%

KWOK Chi Kueng
EIt:

Capacity

Beneficial owner

BEmBEEA

Beneficial owner

EmfEA A

Beneficial owner

EamBEA A

Beneficial owner
EmEE A

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

EERARAREEEZIEZR®G - HE

BRoREFPZ2EDR (&)

(a) RELTAREMEELIB 2RO &
mRRBE (&)

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

at 30 April 2005

Number and class
of securities

(Note 1)

R-BFHEF

A=+H

ERERES

BEHERER ZREBS
(Mt 1)

2 preference shares 0.07%
BRI
(L)

1 preference share 0.03%
EER
(L)

1 preference share 0.03%
BRI
(L)

1 preference share 0.03%
B R
(L)

1 preference share 0.03%
EER

(L)



Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(a)

Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and

its associated corporations (continued)

Notes:
(1) The letter “L” represents the director’s interests in the shares.

(2)  As at 30 April 2005, Mr. WANG Lu Yen, Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin Bin, his
wife, and Megastar Holdings Limited, a company controlled by Mr.
WANG Lu Yen, held approximately 34.59% of the issued share capital of
Roly International. Mr. WANG Lu Yen is thus deemed, by virtue of the
SFO, to be interested in all the shares of the Company in which Roly
International is interested.

(3)  As at 30 April 2005, Roly International, the ultimate holding company of
the Company, through RGS Holdings Limited, held 437,340,000 shares,
representing approximately 66.70% of the issued share capital of the
Company. As at 30 April 2005, the issued share capital of Roly
International was US$40,992,476.40 divided into 409,924,764 shares of
US$0.10 each.

(4)  These shares in Roly International were held by Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin
Bin, the wife of Mr. WANG Lu Yen.

(5) These shares in Roly International were held by Megastar Holdings
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is owned by Mr. WANG
Lu Yen. Mr. WANG Lu Yen is a director of Megastar Holdings Limited.

(6)  As at 30 April 2005, Roly International, the ultimate holding company of
the Company, through Pacific Genius Group Limited (“PGGL"), held
134,609,990 shares, representing approximately 67.30% of the issued
share capital of Byford. By virtue of Mr. WANG Lu Yen’s interest and
deemed interest in Roly International as more particularly described in
Note 2 above, Mr. WANG Lu Yen is deemed, by virtue of the SFO, to be
interested in all the shares of Byford in which Roly International is
interested. As at 30 April 2005, the issued share capital of Byford is
HK$2,000,000 divided into 200,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(7)  These shares in Byford were held by PGGL, the entire issued share
capital of which is owned by Roly International.

(8)  Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. is a subsidiary of the Company. As at 30
April 2005, the issued share capital of Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd.
was 12,000,000 Baht divided into 2,940 ordinary shares of 2,000 Baht
each and 3,060 preference shares of 2,000 Baht each.

EERXATIREMEBEEEZRSG - HEA

ROKREZP 2R (#)

(a) REQRARHEBIBZROF2E
ERKRE (B)

ffat

M

(2)

(LI s E R 2 -

RZZZRFMA=1H THEEEER
ﬁ% Bz ki TREEEmES 2
A @) Megastar Holdings Limited & #£3# 48 &
BREIBR B B ATRR AN 434.59% » A It + IBIBH
HFRBERD - EHREEEREREEREH
RBEMER#ER 2 ARARS -

RZZEZTRFMNA=Z+H - ARAIHKEER
AR E B EFRE B RGS Holdings Limited #
6 437,340,0000 f& 19+ 16 AR R AIBE ETR
R#66.70% - R—_ZEZTAFMA=+H " 2
BLEIBR 2 BT IR /40,992,476.40% 7T -
o £409,924,764% F % E E0.10% 7T 2 i

,(/'\ °

ZERHREBRBROBEREELEZETFEW
WELHEA -

ZEZHBBERMDE  Megastar Holdings
Limited ¥4 + Megastar Holdings Limited 2
EMEHEITRABERELEERES - T%E
% 4 Th Megastar Holdings Limited 2 & % -

RZZEZTRFMNA=Z+H - ARAIHKEER
NAIZEBEEE S Pacific Genius Group
Limited ([PGGL)) 5 5 134,609,9908% I {7
HE B BITRALNGE7.30% < BETEEL
R BB BB 2 W w A R AE B B At 25 i
BERREA R  BEEFLHER
Bl - ErrEEERRAEE BRI
BEREZ2AERG RZZETRFMNA=
+ 8 BEZB#EITRAA?2000000%
JC 9 /A 200,000,0008% & & EE0.017%8 7T
2t o

ZEBERMA PGGLIFH » PGGL Z 2 #
BETEAOZEBERES -

Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. &4~ 2 &)
ZHBAR - RZZEZERFMWA=+H -
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. 2 B %17
& 7% £ 12,000,000% & © 9 42,9400 & &
E{E2,000%F % 2 LR - A K&3,0600 &k
T {E2,000% & 2 B £ »
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)
(b) Interests and short positions in the underlying shares of the

Company and its associated corporations

Company/Name of

associated corporations

AAT B EE
257

Company
PAN/N)|

Company
PAN/N)|

Company
PAN/N)|

Company
PAN/N)|

Roly International
£ 4518

Roly International
£ 4518

Roly International

2l B

Roly International

2l B

Roly International
EAE0 S
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Name of directors

EEnA

Steven Julien FENIGER

SEAEH

FU Jin Ming, Patrick
1% & B

KHOO Kim Cheng
BB $7 3R

KWOK Chi Kueng
MER

WANG Lu Yen
THE

WANG Lu Yen
THE

WANG Lu Yen

THE

Steven Julien FENIGER

6 fa

FU Jin Ming, Patrick
(EREREL]

EERAQFAREEBEE 2RD 186

BaoREFHPZ2ER (&)

() RARAREMEBEEEZEBRS P

ZEERKA

Capacity

&4

Beneficial owner

EamBEA A

Beneficial owner

EamBEA A

Beneficial owner
TEHEA A

i

\

Beneficial owner

EamBEA A

Beneficial owner

EmBEA A

Interest of spouse
Bz Em

Interest of a controlled
corporation
SR GEE 2

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Number of
underlying shares
(Notes 1 and 2)

HEROHBE
(Mtat1k2)

17,760,000 (L)

6,630,000 (L)

8,320,000 (L)

5,910,000 (L)

6,650,000 (L)

87,500 (L)

30,310,875 (L)

1,150,000 (L)

750,000 (L)



Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(b)

(c)

Interests and short positions in the underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (continued)

Company/Name of

associated corporations Name of directors

FARHBER

ZEB EEnR

Roly International
£ 45118

KHOO Kim Cheng
B 87 7R

Roly International
£ 45118

KWOK Chi Kueng
ER

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” represents the directors’ interests in the shares.

(2)  Details of the above underlying shares are set out in the paragraph

headed “Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures”.

Interests and short positions in the debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations

As at 30 April 2005, none of the directors and chief executive of
the Company had interests or short positions in the debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Companies.

EERAQAREEBEZE 2RAD - 188

RO RESTz2ES (&)
() RAQXFARHEABZE ZHERS P

Capacity

Beneficial owner

ZEmRKR (&)

Number of
underlying shares
(Notes 1 and 2)

HERS & E
(Mti1%2)

7,243,000 (L)

EmfEA A

Beneficial owner

161,250 (L)

EmfEA A

(c)

EE
() TUDEEERRG 2% -

(2) LAMEEROHZFEENESBERD K
BHEZEN]—& -

RALXARAEBBZEZB z2ES P2
BRAR

R_ZZERFMA=1+H KARFRZES
RITBASMERARE REEBEEZ
BEHFFHERAACALARAREZEZ LT
0I5 35216 17 B 2 B i i 2 #E & 30K

3

N

B RBREBELMARIZESETESFRSZ
BEFAEMNEARNRR R Emk
/j\kg ©
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Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures
(a) Movement of the options granted by the Company to the directors
of the Company under the Scheme during the year under review

was set out in the paragraph headed “Share options” above.

(b) Pursuant to the share option schemes of Roly International, the
ultimate holding company of the Company, the directors of the
Company and employees of the Group may, at the discretion of the
directors of Roly International, be granted options to subscribe for
shares of Roly International. Movement of the options granted by
Roly International to the directors of the Company during the year

under review was as follows:

Options granted by Roly International

EESRERONIES 2ER

(a)

(b)

ARBMNACEFEAREZLERTA
REBEFZEREZSHEN X EEE]

—Be

BEADARSIERAT 2 AER 2 BB
EitE ARAEFRAREREATERS
AR E E R R TR BB 2 AR
B3 2 R « R 0 2 RS
BFERAAEF L WREEHNT -

Number of underlying shares of Roly International

EHEBRREZERE
HBz2BEBRROEE
Outstanding
as at
Name of directors Date of grant 1 May 2004 Granted Exercised
R-BZONF
AA—H
EEHE BHBEH i RATE B T
WANG Lu Yen 23/08/2004 — 1,600,000 —
T8
Steven Julien FENIGER 22/11/2002 600,000 — —
B 30/03/2004 200,000 — —
800,000 — —
KHOO Kim Cheng 10/02/2000 1,350,000 — (1,350,000)
3 88 R 07/03/2002 2,000,000 — —
22/11/2002 1,500,000 — —
09/05/2003 2,000,000 — —
30/03/2004 1,200,000 — —
8,050,000 — (1,350,000)
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Outstanding

as at 30  Exercise price

April 2005 per share Exercise period
(US$)
R-ZZRF
BA=+H
HMARITE SBRITEE TR
(%£71)

1,600,000 0.248 23/08/2005-22/08/2010
600,000 0.138 22/11/2003-21/11/2008
200,000 0.321 30/03/2005-29/03/2010
800,000

— 0.150 10/02/2001-09/02/2005

2,000,000 0.130 07/03/2004-06/03/2010

1,500,000 0.138 22/11/2003-21/11/2008

2,000,000 0.151 09/05/2004-08/05/2009

1,200,000 0.321 30/03/2005-29/03/2010

6,700,000



Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures (continued)

(c)

On 29 April 2004, Roly International issued bonus warrants (c)

carrying the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares of US$0.10

each in the capital of Roly International to its shareholders whose

names were on the register of members of Roly International as at

26 April 2004 on the basis of one bonus warrant for every four

existing ordinary shares of Roly International held by them. Each

bonus warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new share at

the exercise price of S$0.75 at any time during the period

commencing on 29 April 2004 and expiring on 28 April 2009.

Particulars of the warrants issued to the directors of the Company

and remained outstanding as at 30 April 2005 were as follows:

Name of directors

BEEHR

WANG Lu Yen
T

Steven Julien FENIGER
BAE

Capacity

54

Beneficial owner

BHEEA A

Interest of spouse (Note 1)
BBt (Mat1)

Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2)
FEmELAE c#Ew (Mi2)

Beneficial owner

BHEEA A

EEREROUETZEFN ©)

RZZETNFMA=Z+NE  2RBEIEREE
TTHANRREZEF —_STTEHFEOAZ+X
BEINEHBERKRREZMZRER - AR
PRI M A RIE 2 BB R R A &R EE
O.10E Tz E BB ZEN - B A TR
PRERRALRK - BNAESE —HAF
RIHEE - FOANRREZAIHIFEA
R_ZZENFORA-_+NABE-_TZTNF
MAZ=+N\BHM  UITEE.7557 N
TRE—RFR -HR_ZTTRFWA=T
B ARAIEFCEZFITMRRITEZR
REZIWT :

Warrants issued by Roly International
Number of underlying shares of

Roly International

outstanding as at 1 May 2004

and 30 April 2005
ZREBRBETZARER
HEZ2HBBEROHEE
R-ZEZENEFHEA-—HRK
—EEREMAZTHMRITE

5,050,000

87,500

30,310,875

350,000
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Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures (continued)

(e) (continued)

Name of directors Capacity

BEEHR 54

FU Jin Ming, Patrick
% &8

Beneficial owner
Em#EA A

Beneficial owner
e mEA A

KHOO Kim Cheng
BB $7 5%

i}

\

KWOK Chi Kueng

&

Beneficial owner
Em#EA A

Notes:

(1)  These warrants in Roly International were held by Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin
Bin, the wife of Mr. WANG Lu Yen.

(2)  These warrants in Roly International were held by Megastar Holdings
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is owned by Mr. WANG
Lu Yen. Mr. WANG Lu Yen is a director of Megastar Holdings Limited.

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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EERERONUETZERN ©)
() (&)

Warrants issued by Roly International
Number of underlying shares of

Roly International

outstanding as at 1 May 2004

and 30 April 2005
PREMRBITZARER
HEZ2HBEBEROSBE
R-ZEEMEFEA—AR
—EEREMAZTHMRTE

750,000

543,000

161,250

Hi -

(1) ZE2REERBREEGIREELEZET
BWHZLHE -

(2) %E2EEFRRAMEZ B Megastar Holdings
Limited ¥ * Megastar Holdings Limited 2
PEEBITRAHERBEEHEE - THE
% 4 % Megastar Holdings Limited & %

BEXHEEEN  REBEFEEAER - K
DA EAEER AR - RRKB R B E
REMESEFT T EMLZHARARAEST
RBAXRQR ST HAMEEZ D NEZFM
BEEUF e



Connected transaction
During the year ended 30 April 2005, the Group had the following
significant connected transaction (within the meaning of the Listing

Rules):

Tenancy agreement

On 1 March 2002, Linmark (HK) Limited (“Linmark (HK)"”) entered into
a tenancy agreement with Turmar Limited (a company owned by Mr.
WANG Lu Yen and his spouse) whereby Turmar Limited agreed to lease
to Linmark (HK) Flat No. 57, 8th Floor, Tower 9, Hong Kong Parkview,
No. 88 Tai Tam Reservoir Road, Hong Kong of a gross floor area of
approximately 256.78 sqg.m. (approximately 2,764 sq.ft.) together with
car parking space No. 56 on car park entrance 4 (Level 3) of the garage
at the same development for a term of 24 months commencing on 1
February 2002. On 20 February 2004, Linmark (HK) entered into a
renewed tenancy agreement (“Renewed Tenancy Agreement”) with
Turmar Limited for the leasing of the same premises for another 24
months commencing on 1 February 2004. The Group has been granted
an option to terminate the Renewed Tenancy Agreement by serving two
months’ notice to Turmar Limited upon the expiry of the initial 12
months from the date of the Renewed Tenancy Agreement. The monthly
rental (exclusive of rates and service charges) payable by the Group to
Turmar Limited under the Renewed Tenancy Agreement is HK$85,000
(equivalent to approximately US$11,000), and the annual rental
(exclusive of rates and service charges) paid for the year ended 30 April

2005 by the Group thereunder is HK$1,020,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$131,000).

The directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
consider that the above transaction was conducted in the usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group on normal commercial terms.
The directors (including the independent non-executive directors) are of
the view that the transaction was fair and reasonable so far as the

shareholders of the Company are concerned.

RBE_ZTAFOA=1THILFE ~&H
TEF Z(EEREMRADMOT :

HEWZR

RZBZ_F=A—H  HE(FEBE) BRQFA
([ME (BB ESEFEERAF (EEBEER
HEB@mEZ R UHER#  BUESE
PR A ) [ B A i 7 & 7 KB 7K 3 38 885% 5 A 1L
HEFOREBIEETSRE (REMIEL) /256.78F 77 K
(H2,764FHR)) - BEURRA—BREB ZF
BIZEIEATA O L5655 EEM HHE FMHE (F
) R T _F _A-HERH -+ X™
@A - RZZETWF-_A=1+A8  HE(FH)
HRSAERAFAAREREMITZENEERZ
([EFHERZE])  H-_TTNF_A—B
BER_TER - -AEBEFREEFEE RS
HHEET_@EAER®ER mMESARQAE
HMEAZBMAKRIEENHERRE - NEER
BEFHERETANESARAAINZAM
(TREZMRERE) /85,0004 7T (4118 E R
11,000(7%) : iBE-_ZEERFMA=+THI
FE AEERBREFHEHREAIN2FE (T
BEEZMEERE) A A1,020,0007 7T (K%
#131,000%7T) °

BRBIUFNTER)RS LR HTS
Brz—MmEkEEEHBET  B—KHE

CER(BREBUFATES)R
CRBEXRGEHARARBZRRERME

%/\\//\
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Directors’ Report
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Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed above and in Note 33 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of

the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to

disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company
As at 30 April 2005, the following shareholders (other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
are set out above) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of
substantial shareholders Capacity
FTERRER i-8%)

Beneficial owner
Em#EAB A

RGS Holdings Limited

Roly International Interest of a controlled

Ex7aE corporation
(Note 2) SZYERLEE 2 s
(K1:52)

Beneficial owner

BHEEA A

Arisaig Greater China Fund Limited
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EECANER

B EX MBS RE A 33 BEE I -

ZAN/NY|

FEEFMERAT - B/ RENBRRRKERA
B2 BT SRR A B B F 2 T 48 B s AN [
BEEATAREDABRAMARBDNEETEE
SHAEEETPREBEEARGEEAEREB
BERAEH -

FERRRRER Z R E 5] 5 XVER
AREEmcHMAL

(a)

of the Company held

AARAZEERR
RZZTRAFMA=1H - THRERER
ARBZBDEARRD ZEERABE
N EX 2 R RBEERITRAEKIN) R
AR zB D RAEERNDPEEALAR
RARBEESFRPEGRIIFIBCHEFEZ
Bifft 2 BmsRE ¢

7

Approximate
percentage of interest
as at 30 April 2005

Number of shares

(Note 1)
R-ZEZERF
82 MA=+HESE
AATRBEE ZEGHBHNBE I

(K1)
437,340,000 (L) 66.70%
437,340,000 (L) 66.70%
32,766,000 (L) 5.00%



Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to

disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (continued)

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (continued)

Name of
substantial shareholders Capacity
FTERRER i-8%)

Arisaig Partners (Mauritius)
Limited

Investment manager

BREKR

(Note 3)

Lindsay William Ernest COOPER

(K1:t3)

Interest of a controlled

(Note 4) corporation
(BtiF4) SRR R
Notes:
(1) The letter “L” represents the entity’s interests in the shares.
(2)  The entire issued share capital of RGS Holdings Limited is owned by
Roly International.
(3)  Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited is the fund manager of Arisaig
Greater China Fund Limited.
(4)  Mr. Lindsay William Ernest COOPER owns 100% interest in Madeleine

Ltd which in turn owns 33.33% interest in Arisaig Partners (Holdings)
Ltd. Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Ltd, through its wholly owned subsidiary
Arisaig Partners (BVI) Limited, owns 100% interest in Arisaig Partners
(Mauritius) Limited.

FERRRBERSFRHE KL EXVE
ARBEREZZHEMAL &)
(@) XDBZ2EERRE (&)

Number of shares
of the Company held

Approximate
percentage of interest
as at 30 April 2005

(Note 1)
R-ZEZEREF
B2 MAE=+HESE
AATRBEE ZEGHBANE I
(K1)
32,766,000 (L) 5.00%
32,766,000 (L) 5.00%

U TiEERN M 2 -

RGS Holdings Limited 2 23 2 /7R A TY
MEEERES -

Arisaig  Partners (Mauritius) Limited &
Arisaig Greater China Fund Limited & & & 4%
I8 o

Lindsay William Ernest COOPER %4 #H
Madeleine Ltd 2 100%# % * i Madeleine
Ltd BlI# & Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Ltd 2
33.33%7## 25 ° Arisaig Partners (Holdings)
Ltd BBE P ENE QT Arisaig Partners
(BVI) Limited #H
(Mauritius) Limited 2 100%## z= °

Arisaig  Partners
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to

disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (continued)

(b) Other persons who are required to disclose their interests
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ interests in
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” and paragraph (a) above, as at 30 April
2005, no other person had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

Major customers and vendors of the Group’s customers

During the year under review, the five largest customers of the Group in
aggregate accounted for approximately 48% of the turnover of the Group
and the largest customer accounted for approximately 12% of the

turnover of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group’s customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 10% of the Group’s total shipment volume

for the year under review.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in any

of the five largest customers noted above.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
Save as disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of

the Company’s securities during the year under review.
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Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 134 and 135 of the

annual report.

Charitable donation
During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations

amounting to approximately HK$104,000.

Corporate governance
The Company has complied throughout the year ended 30 April 2005
and up to the date of this report with the Code of Best Practice (in force

prior to 1 January 2005) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all
directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard

set out in the Model Code throughout the year under review.

BrABEERE

ARBZ AR ARELEZMNEREES
BERZEXREARBARFTRLAIMRE
BRRBEEH KA

MBHRE
AEERHERARPRFEZXEREERE
EMEBHNANFREI34K%135E -

ERX
[l B8 F A - 7 5% B {E 2 & 18 3040 104,00078

7T|: o

BTN

QNAEER
EEZE_ZTERFNA=THILEFER2FRE
EAREENNERR /L ARA—BEETLE
MRS IAME RERATA (R _FFH
F—A—BRTER -

ARARERMA ETARAMEI0PTE 2 LT
ANEFETEFRRGZBETA ([REST
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Sufficiency of public float
From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient

public float throughout the year under review.

Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference prepared based on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committees”
published by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (as it was then
known) and the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules). At present, members of the audit committee
comprise Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden and
Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, being the three independent non-executive

directors of the Company.

During the year under review, the audit committee held four meetings

and performed the following duties:

1. reviewed and commented on the Company’s draft annual and

interim financial reports and quarterly results announcements;

2. met with the external auditors and participated in the appointment

and assessment of the performance of the external auditors; and

3. reviewed the terms and conditions of connected transactions of the

Company which took place during the year ended 30 April 2005.
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Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. On 16 August 2004
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as auditors of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were
auditors of the Company for the two financial years ended 30 April 2003
and 2004. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annua
general meeting to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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Report of the Auditors
AR ES

PRICENVATERHOUSE(COPERS

EERKEEETESEHAR

To the shareholders of Linmark Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Linmark Group
Limited (“the Company”) as of 30 April 2005, the consolidated balance
sheet of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) as of
30 April 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income, cash
flows and changes in equity for the year then ended. These financial
statements set out on pages 55 to 133 are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform our audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial positions of the Company and of the Group as of
30 April 2005, and of the Group’s results of operations and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2005
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Consolidated Income Statement

e SR

For the year ended 30 April 2005 HZ T RAFWMA=+HIEFE

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other operating income

Administrative expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs

Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries

Share of loss of a joint venture

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit for the year, attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Dividends

Earnings per share (US cents)

— Basic
— Diluted

The notes on pages 62 to 133 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Notes

et

18

10

11

12

13
13

F62% 1338 K 7 JY itk & 81 75 3R

2005

—2FLF

Us$'000
FET

89,837
(41,513)

48,324
2,443
(35,112)

15,655
(22)

13
12)

15,634
(880)

14,754

6,216

2.3
2.2

2004
—EETNF
US$°’000
FET

44,338
(5,652)

38,686
2,947
(26,861)

14,772
(4)

14,768
(143)

14,625

5,872

W
N
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

LeBEEBRER

As at 30 April 2005 M—EZRFMA=1+H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Deferred expenditure
Club membership
Investment in a joint venture

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Short-term investment
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Short-term bank loan

Obligation under a finance lease

Balance of consideration payable for
an acquisition of a subsidiary
— due within one year

Balance of consideration payable for
an acquisition of business and
assets — due within one year

Tax payable

FRBEE

ME - BEMRE
kS

EEE

g5

RBEE

A

& W B 5 B R

BNRE - RE2R
H A & WK IR
HHRE
RITEEFEREAES

RBEE

F& 1 B 5 B 5K

FERT &M M E b B R

EHSRITE R
MEBREAE

WiE—KMB AR 2 BN

NEEEE

— —FREH
WREHREEZREN
RERE

— —FREH

J& 1 1 1

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

56 LINMARK GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2005
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RMEERRDAEME

2005

—2FIF

Notes us$’000
o aF FEx
16 3,119
17 42,446
3,014

83

18 170
48,832

55

19 20,308
3,709

20 27,323
51,395

21 9,144
6,588

22 2,300
23 —
24(a) 1,987
24(b) 4,474
1,454

25,947

25,448

74,280

2004
—EETNF
US$°’000
FET

2,176
16,181
3,014
83

21,454

10,535
2,202
109
34,869

47,715

923
2,478

1,987

1,861

7,255

40,460

61,914



Non-current liabilities

Balance of consideration payable for
an acquisition of a subsidiary
— due after one year

Balance of consideration payable for
an acquisition of business and
assets — due after one year

Post-employment benefits

Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

WANG Lu Yen
EX- 3
Director

BF

The notes on pages 62 to 133 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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2005

—2FLF

Notes Us$’000
o aF FEx
24(a) 1,987
24(b) 5,205
25 1,651
26 118
8,961

65,319

27 13,113
29 52,206
65,319

Steven Julien FENIGER

B #

Director

EF

£60% 133E MBI S B RS2 — 5

2004
—EEFF
US$°’000
FET

3,974

1,272
21

5,267

56,647

13,090
43,557

56,647
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Balance Sheet

BERER

As at 30 April 2005 M—EZRFMA=1+H

2005 2004
—EERF —EFENEF
Notes Us$’000 US$°’000
o aF FETT FETT
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BEKEE — 2
Investments in subsidiaries RBERRIZEE 34 36,305 25,723
36,305 25,725
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and AR IR EM
other receivables JE U 3R 167 410
Short-term investment RHIEE — 109
Bank balances and cash RTEFERS 20 13,075 24,776
13,242 25,295
Current liabilities RBAE
Accruals and other payables FEET B R & E th < 5RIE 12 2
Amount due to a subsidiary R — KB AR 2 A — 71
12 73
Net current assets RBEEFE 13,230 25,222
Net assets EEFRE 49,535 50,947
Capital and reserves R R A#E
Share capital % A5 27 13,113 13,090
Reserves & 29 36,422 37,857
49,535 50,947
WANG Lu Yen Steven Julien FENIGER
TE BAHE
Director Director
BEFE BEFE

The notes on pages 62 to 133 are an integral part of these financial statements. FO2EIBEMF I EM B RME 2 — 25 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 30 April 2005 HZ T RAFWMA=+HIEFE

Balance at 1 May

Profit for the year

Issue of shares upon

exercise of share options

Repurchase of shares

Currency translation differences

Dividends paid

Balance at 30 April

The notes on pages 62 to 133 are an integral part of these

statements.
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Notes
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29(a)

27,29

27,29

29(a)

29

financial

2005

—2FLF

Us$'000
FET

56,647

14,754

746

(679)

(164)

(5,985)

65,319

2004
—EETNF
US$°’000
FET

45,651

14,625

1,994

(178)

(444)

(5,001)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
:\‘/T/\IEEUILE%E

For the year ended 30 April 2005 HZ T RFWMA=+HIEFE

Notes
Kt iF
Cash flows from operating activities REXEB7RENE
Cash generated from operations KEXEBERE 30(a)
Interest paid EATF &
Income tax paid B FER
Net cash generated from operating KEEBFBREFE
activities
Cash flows from investing activities HEEH RERE
Acquisition of business and assets/a  WHEEBKLREE, — KK B
subsidiary, net of cash acquired ~alc MERAERS 31
Repayment of consideration payable  {EE W —KK B AR Z
for an acquisition of a subsidiary JERRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BELK
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BERKRE
plant and equipment B8 %R
Increase in investment in R—REEREZREEN
a joint venture
Purchase of short-term investment BARBEE
Proceeds from disposal of HESBREMSNRIEA
short-term investment
Repayment from a fellow subsidiary KERZRHEBRAIRER
Interest received ER RPN
Dividend received B AR B
Decrease/(Increase) in fixed and “@ANLEEERZ
pledged bank deposits with THREERRITFERRLD
original maturity over three months (3 hn)

Net cash used in investing activities REZBMEREFE
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2005

—TFIF

Us$'000
FET

19,201
(22)
(1,190)

17,989

(19,753)

(1,987)

(1,413)

134

(182)
(54)

176

1,321
16

7,379

(14,363)

2004
—EETMNF
US$°’000
FET

12,221
(4)
(138)

12,079

(12,404)

(1,207)

43

(122)

11
2,160

(3,360)

(14,878)



Cash flows from financing activities
New short-term bank loan
Repayment of finance lease

obligations
Proceeds from issue of shares
Payment on repurchase of shares
Dividends paid to the Company’s
shareholders

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents

at end of the year

The notes on pages 62 to 133 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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LR 4

W
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FfEER 30(b)

2005

—2FLF

Us$'000
FET

2,300
(6)

746
(679)

(5,985)

(3,624)

15,490

(169)

15,323

F62% 1338 K 7 Jh itk & B 75 3R

2004
—EEFF
US$°’000
FET

(22)
1,994
(178)

(5,001)

(3,207)

(6,006)

21,920

(424)
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Notes to theFinanciaI Statements
IR E MR

62

General information

Linmark Group Limited (“Company”) was incorporated and
domiciled in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda on 25 January
2002. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 10 May
2002.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal

activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 34.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(“Group”) have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESTHHESE @

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) wMEEE (B
During the year ended 30 April 2005, the Group adopted the HE_ZTZRAFMNA=THLEFE
following IFRS, which are relevant to its operations. A REBERMNEEZEREHE 2T

51V BB B 75 SR 5 R

IFRS 3 (issued 2004) Business Combinations BB B G E BB  EBAH
(R_ZZTMEREM)

IAS 36 (revised 2004) Impairment of Assets B[ & 528 Al 2 365% BEEME
(R ZTZTHFEL])

IAS 38 (revised 2004) Intangible Assets B[ 2 51 2 Al 2 385% EREE
(R T ZTHFEL])

IFRS 3 is applied prospectively and requires simultaneous B R B 755 R 5 2 BN 25 39% A FE A 2 A1
adoption with 1AS 36 and IAS 38. e FERFHMAREZEEL

5 365% & BFR & 5% A 55 3855 ©

The adoption of IFRS 3, IAS 36 and IAS 38 resulted in a PRAN B BR B 78 e 5 22 R 2B 35% - BURR
change in the accounting policy for goodwill. Until 30 April SRTERIEI6CTRA KRB s ERE
2004, goodwill was: 38 EHEBEHELEHEEKRE
g HEE_TTNFENA=1+AHA
IF B
— Amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 — DESES-_TFEHE X
years; and
— Assessed for an indication of impairment at each — REBAZEEBFETEEBRE
balance sheet date. PR o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR EMTEE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3:

— The Group ceased amortisation of goodwill from 1 May

2004,

— Accumulated amortisation as at 30 April 2004 has been

eliminated with a corresponding decrease in the cost of

goodwill;

—  From the year ended 30 April 2005 onwards, goodwill is
tested annually for impairment, as well as when there

are indications of impairment.

The Group has reassessed the useful lives of other intangible
assets in accordance with the provisions of IAS 38. No
adjustment resulted from this reassessment.

All changes in the accounting policies have been made in
accordance with the transition provisions in the respective
standards. The adoption of the above IFRS has no material
impact to the financial statements for the year ended 30 April

2004 (prior year).
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls  another Subsidiaries  are

entity. fully

consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from

the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
liabilities and liabilities

acquired and contingent

assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the

income statement (see Note 2(f)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR EMTEE

2.

66

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated upon consolidation. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Joint venture

A joint venture is an entity established under a
contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which is subject
to a joint control and none of the participating parties

has unilateral control over the economic activity.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Consolidation (continued)

(ii)

Joint venture (continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, investment in a
joint venture is accounted for by the equity method of
The
Group’s share of the profits or losses of the joint venture

accounting and is initially recognised at cost.
is recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the

joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the joint venture. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint venture have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

(c) Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations

engaged in providing products or services that are subject to

risks and returns that are different from those of other

business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in

providing products or services within a particular economic

environment that are subject to risks and returns that are

different from those of segments operating in other economic

environments.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ir)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements and the financial statements of the
Company are presented in United States dollars, which

is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the

income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the

date of that balance sheet;

— income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and

expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions); and
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Group companies (continued)
— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designed
as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in the income

statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits in
excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of
the existing asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the

financial period in which they are incurred.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(f)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements over the shorter of 5 years
or the terms of the leases

Furniture and equipment 3-b years
Motor vehicles and yacht 5-10 years
The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater

than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2(g)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the

income statement.

Intangible assets
(i)  Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/joint
venture/business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiary/business is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of joint venture
is included in investment in joint venture. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Gain and losses
on the disposal of an entity/a business include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity/

business sold.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)

(g)

Intangible assets (continued)

(i) Goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing (Note 2(g)).

(ii)  Deferred expenditure
Material items of expenditure that do not relate solely to
revenue which has already been accounted for are
deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of
future revenue, and will contribute to the future earning
capacity of the Group.

Deferred expenditure is amortised over the period in
which the related benefits are expected to be realised.
Deferred expenditure is reviewed annually to determine
the amount, if any, that is no longer recoverable and any

such amount is written off to the income statement.

Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units).
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in-first-out method.
Cost comprises the direct costs of merchandise and charges
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less

applicable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are carried at original invoiced amount less
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is an objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of
the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the

provision is recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks,

investments with original maturities of three months or less,

other short-term highly liquid

and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within

borrowings under current liabilities in the balance sheet.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the

proceeds.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)

)

(m)

Share capital (continued)
Where the Company purchases its equity shares, the

consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. The nominal
value of the shares which are repurchased and cancelled is
transferred from retained earnings to capital redemption

reserve.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective yield
method; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income

statement over the period of the borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. However, if the deferred tax arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred

tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probably that future taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Deferred taxes (continued)

(n)

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on

investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, except where

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is

controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee henefits

(1)

Pension obligations
The Group has both defined benefit and defined

contribution plans.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors
such as age, years of service and compensation. The
cost of providing benefits is determined using the
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at each balance sheet date. Past
service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that
the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the amended benefits become vested. The
obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents
the present value of the other post-employment benefits
as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses
and unrecognised past service cost.

Acturial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in acturial assumptions of
defined benefit obligation are charged to the income
statement.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Employee benefits (continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Pension obligations (continued)
For defined
contributions to publicly or

contribution plans, the Group pays
privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund

or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Equity compensation plan

Share options are granted to management and key
employees. Options are granted at the quoted market
price of the shares on the date of the grant and are
When
exercised, the proceeds received net of any transaction

exercisable at that price. the options are
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium. The Group does not make a charge to

staff costs in connection with share options.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either:
terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of
withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance

sheet date are discounted to present value.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice

that has created a constructive obligation.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(0)

(p)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be

small.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of merchandise
and services, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
commission income within the Group. Revenue is recognised
as follows:

Sales of merchandise are recognised when goods are

delivered and title is passed.

Commission income is recognised upon shipment of the
underlying goods procured by the Group.

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using

the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Reimbursement income from customers is recognised when

expenses paid on behalf of customers are incurred.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

(r) Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders.

(s) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to

conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

Financial risk factors
Financial assets and financial liabilities carried on the balance
sheet include bank balances and cash, trade receivables, long-

term other payables, trade payables and bank loans. The
accounting policies on recognition and measurement of these items

are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and the current
operations of the Group, no hedging activities were undertaken by

management.
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Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s transactions, trade receivables and payables are
mainly denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars and are not exposed to significant foreign exchange
risk. The Group has certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation
risk. However, as the net foreign exchange exposure of the
foreign operations is not significant, the Group does not
presently hedge this foreign exchange exposure. The Group
liabilities held in
currencies other than the United States dollars to ensure that

periodically reviews liquid assets and

net exposure is kept at an acceptable level.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. It
has policies in place to ensure that sale of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit

history.
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining

sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities except as disclosed below, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arose from bank balances and
short-term bank loan. The Group regularly seeks out the most
favourable interest rates available for its bank deposits and
bank borrowing. Information relating to the interest rate of the
Group’s bank deposits and bank borrowing are disclosed in
Notes 20 and 22 to the financial statements respectively.
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Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2(f). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use

calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

(ii) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment has any indication of impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(e). The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These

calculations require the use of estimates.

(iii) Estimated provision for doubtful debts
The Group makes provision for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables and
other receivables. Provisions are applied to trade receivables
and other receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact carrying value of receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the period in which such estimate has been

changed.

TERHEHRER
NEG - HRBERL R L EMEERFE

SRHERTRAE - ZFERRBREEX
ERATHARRERMBEAENRE -

AEBERARRELERRR - HREER
KE - gLt EEN G AR KR AZRM
RERER - BRFHURRTBFEALN
EERABREEFHERFHREZIEZR
RAEBENZSMAFARR  ERTXH

() BEERENMGE
RIFHE200FM M ST BE - A&
BesFRARMEATHIERE - &
RS EMNAIRE SR RERAE

REEEREEE - %F/ENA
BEELME -

(i) 3 - FRES R 3548 B8 40 1 3t
IR0 B 2 2(e)FT it B R ECSE - AR
BeSFRENE BERABAT
R ES - RS B e A K
B & W R IR (R B 2 B A
o KSR E AR B -

(iii) RERBENMGE

R B R B R 5 BR A S E s K
IR H) ] A2 2 B R BR IR A -
—BENRRENEE BRI TAREE
W EERRES - Rl g BB IE B IR K
Hip EURIREHR B - AR RT
ZEHHEMER - HIBHSRER
EbFTTR - AZEBESeFERG
At R B HA ) P O B AR SR B R AR
X HHREE

“TTRGFR fEEE 79



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR EMTEE

4,

80

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)
(iv) Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are not recognised as management considers it
is not probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and income tax charge in the period in

which such estimate has been changed.

Turnover

Commission income A+ WA
Sales of merchandise Bk
Service income B 75 U A
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Other operating income

Interest income from bank R 8 RITE R E WA
deposits

Reimbursement income KEEPFHERBA
from customers

Dividend income from KEEHEENREKA
short-term investment

Others EH A,

Segmental information
Primary reporting format — business segments
At 30 April 2005, the Group is organised on a worldwide basis into

two main business segments:

(i)  Sales of merchandise — trading of garment and labels

(ii)  Provision of services — commission income derived from the
procurement agency business and service income derived
from value-added services related to the procurement agency
business (including inspection and social compliance auditing

service)

o

H&E A

2005 2004
ST
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FETE
1,321 2,160

587 224

16 1

519 562
2,443 2,947
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HEER )
FEERHFRX —EBKS5E ©
BE_EZRAFNA=1THIFENDE

7. Segmental information (continued) 7.
Primary reporting format — business segments (continued)
The segment information for the year ended 30 April 2005 is as

82

follows: EROT
Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
EmEE 12 4 BR 3% &t
US$'000 US$’000 US$’000
FZET FET FET
Revenue I &=
External revenue AN R UG 2 47,496 42,341 89,837
Segment results DIREE 1,745 13,029 14,774
Interest income B U A 1,321
Unallocated corporate expenses KoBERS (440)
Finance costs 8% & A (22)
Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries R B ARz 13
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—XREEEZBIE (12)
Profit before taxation B 151 A g A 15,634
Taxation H1E (880)
Profit for the year FEEF 14,754
Segment assets NEEE 42,687 44,129 86,816
Investment in a joint venture R—REELEZERE — 170 170
Unallocated corporate assets KB EEE 13,241
Total assets BERE 100,227
Segment liabilities SEEEaE 20,922 10,103 31,025
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko EEE 2,311
Tax payable FETFE IR 1,454
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAE 118
Total liabilities BERERE 34,908
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7.

Segmental information (continued)
Primary reporting format — business segments (continued)

Capital expenditures BEARE
Goodwill arising from an acquisition WEEBREE
of business and assets EEXHEE
Property, plant and equipment RUEE R EER
acquired on an acquisition Frg Am -
of business and assets 5= K 5%
Additions to property, plant Y- BENMEE
and equipment NE
Depreciation of property, plant - BEMEE
and equipment e
Allowance for doubtful debts R AR

7. 2EER ®
FEERHFRX —EBKS5E ©

Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
EmEE 121 AR 7 &5t
US$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FZET FETT FETT
26,265 — 26,265
883 — 883
72 1,341 1,413
27,220 1,341 28,561
73 1,115 1,188
267 414 681
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7. Segmental information (continued) 7. ZEER @
Primary reporting format — business segments (continued) FEE2HIFRX —¥Bo8E®)

The segment information for the year ended 30 April 2004 is as HE_ZZWNFNA=Z+HIEFEMNDE

follows: BRI
Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
EmEE R ARE &t
US$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT FETT
Revenue I =

External revenue AN R UG 2 7,353 36,985 44,338
Segment results DIREE 300 12,868 13,168
Interest income B U A 2,160
Unallocated corporate expenses KoBERS (556)
Finance costs W% &R 4)
Profit before taxation B 76 B F 14,768
Taxation Bi1E (143)
Profit for the year FEm 14,625
Segment assets DEEE 1,212 42 660 43,872
Unallocated corporate assets KB EEE 25,297
Total assets BEERE 69,169
Segment liabilities NEEE 991 9,642 10,633
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAoBEEE 7
Tax payable FETFE IR 1,861
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHIBEE 21
Total liabilities BERR 12,522
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7. Segmental information (continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments (continued)

Capital expenditures
Goodwill arising from an
acquisition of a subsidiary
Property, plant and equipment
acquired on an acquisition
of a subsidiary
Additions to property, plant

and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Amortisation of goodwill

Allowance for doubtful debts

BAFX

W — KB AR
ELENEE

Y iE — M B A B
I UN:EYE S
55 K & e

ME - BEMRBRE

RiBITE
REEEE

Unallocated corporate expenses represents dividend income and

other corporate expenses.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment,

goodwill, deferred expenditures, receivables and operating cash.

They exclude the assets held for corporate use, including property,

plant and equipment, prepayments and other receivables and bank

balances and cash.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. They exclude

items such as taxation and corporate borrowings.

7. 2EER ®
FEERHFRX —EBKS5E ©

Sales of
merchandise
EmiHE
Us$'000
FET

18

18

13

Provision
of services
12 it B 7%
Us$'000
FET

16,560

80

1,189

17,829

953
379

Total
At
Us$’000
FETT

16,560

80

1,207

17,847

966
379
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B S MY EE
7. Segmental information (continued) 7. ZEER @
Primary reporting format — business segments (continued) FEEHFRN —EBI2>E®)
Capital expenditures comprise additions to property, plant and BARSBREME  WELREEBARER
equipment and intangible assets, including additions resulting from BEANE  PERE-—RMBRA X%
the acquisitions of a subsidiary/business and assets. LEERELRNARE -
Secondary reporting format — geographical segments EF-EHFRX — WS E
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s turnover, TERAEAEEEEE EEREREALRHA
total assets and capital expenditures by geographical locations. SRR DT
Turnover Total assets Capital expenditures
= BEHLE EXBEX
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
SEEEF —TIMNF -FEEF -TINT -—FTEF —FINF
Us$’000 US$'000 Us$’000 US$'000 Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Europe BOM 22,517 6,047 49 — 1 —
United States xH 20,386 15,132 — — — —
Australia SN 11,860 10 — — — —
South Africa 2 11,172 684 111 83 7 20
Canada mex 8,514 12,168 — — — —
Hong Kong BB 6,609 4,169 96,224 64,977 27,984 17,537
Others Hip 8,779 6,128 3,843 4,109 559 290
89,837 44,338 100,227 69,169 28,561 17,847
Turnover is based on the location of customers. Total assets and EEBEDRBEREFMEMEY - EEHE
capital expenditures are based on the location of those assets. LERARALZTIBREZEEEMEHET -
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Profit from operations 8. ®&®ERA

Profit from operations is arrived at after crediting and charging the LERFEFTARMBTHIER -
following:
2005 2004
—ETEE  —TTNF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FEx FETT
Crediting — A —
Gain on disposal of & 52 5
short-term investment % & W= 13 —
Exchange gains, net JE W W F EE 46 182
Charging — Wk —
Staff costs (Note 14) BINA (ffiF14) 22,666 16,907
Operating lease payment KEREENK

in respect of:

— office premises and — WAREBEMR
staff quarters BIEE 1,452 1,541
— furniture, fixtures and — R RKER
equipment B 198 92
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BE&
and equipment (included in BEITE
administrative expenses) GFAITBRIZ W) 1,188 966
Amortisation of goodwill B E]
(included in administrative (FtATTHRAX A)
expenses) — 379
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEK
plant and equipment HEEE 36 23
Impairment loss on club gHEBEBE
membership — 36
Allowance for doubtful debts KRB 681 4
Unrealised loss on RHKREZ
short-term investment RERGE — 13
Auditors’ remuneration =B & 138 95
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10.

88

Finance costs

Interest on bank loan RITERFE

Interest on finance lease MEHEEAENTE
obligations

Others HA

Taxation

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda
and, as such, is not liable for taxation in Bermuda on its non-

Bermuda income.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
(2004: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in or
derived from Hong Kong. Taxation on overseas profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group

operates.
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10.

MBEER
2005 2004
Siitae
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FETE
21 —

1
22 4
BiE

ARR /RN BARETMA LI R
BRAR HALBARILIFRE BREN
WABMBLIA -

FERMNBHRBETEELXRAETEN
et ERBEMIEHRE175%(—TFN
F 1 17.5%) 5t &  BINEF @R IBREA
FEMATERVEMNZAEER LXK
EEREROHERGH -



10.

Taxation (continued)

10.

BE @

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income FAGARFIROTES
statement represents:
2005 2004
S e
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Current tax Bl EA % 18
— Hong Kong profits tax — BERNGEM 665 135
— Overseas taxation — BINBLIR 112 307
— Under/(Over) provision — BAEFERETRS
in prior years (FREEEE) 6 (293)
783 149
Deferred tax IERE T 1A
— Deferred taxation relating — BHEANER
to the origination and BEREEN
reversal of temporary IEET I8
differences (Note 26) (Hfa£26) 97 (7)
— Deferred taxation resulting — ERERES
from an increase in FFr 5| B A IR IE 7 IR
tax rate (Note 26) (Kt zE26) — 1
97 (6)
880 143
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IR EMTEE

BE @
AEBEABBHEANGENNBBEERE A
REBATBROBERTEE IR m B E

10. Taxation (continued) 10.
The taxation on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the profits tax rate of

11.

90

Hong Kong, home country of the Group, as follows:

RZEZBLOT

2005 2004
—ETREF —TTNEF
Uss$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Profit before taxation R 350 A1 % A 15,634 14,768
Calculated at a taxation rate R K17 5% &
of 17.5% (2004: 17.5%) (ZZEZTWEF : 17.5%) 2,736 2,584
Effect of different taxation rates H A B K S [B] 1 K
in other countries b4 6 73
Income not subject to taxation BAERB A (3,961) (3,343)
Expenses not deductible for DA
taxation purposes 952 110
Unrecognised tax losses RIERK BB EE 1,141 1,011
Increase in opening net deferred B & 42 = T 3 &R
tax liabilities resulting from B W) RE F4 1R
an increase in tax rate B EFHE N — 1
Under/(Over) provision in BEFEBEHETIR/
prior years (FBEERE) 6 (293)
Taxation charges HERX 880 143

Profit for the year

Profit for the year is dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company to the extent of approximately US$4,506,000 (2004:

US$11,903,000).
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11.

FEEF

AR B 75 i o BE IR O F DR A A S
4,506,000% 7T (= 22 PU4 : 11,903,000
EII



12.

13.

Dividends
Interim, paid, of 2.63 HK cents BT HRE
(2004: 2.5 HK cents) BT EAR2.638 L
per ordinary share ZETMF  2.5851)
Final, proposed, of 4.8 HK cents R R HA IR B
(2004: 4.5 HK cents) R EAR4SEL
per ordinary share ZETMF  4.5851)

At a meeting held on 28 June 2005, the directors proposed a final
dividend of 4.8 HK cents per ordinary share. This proposed
dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in these financial
statements, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained
earnings for the year ending 30 April 2006.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit for
the year, attributable to equity holders of the Company, by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year, as follows:

Profit for the year, attributable AKRARIREREA
to equity holders of the EAEFE&A (F£71)

Company (US$’000)

Weighted average number of TEERERARNT
ordinary shares in issue for ERTEBRR
basic earnings per share ("000) nwEFIE (FK)

Basic earnings per share (US cents) FREARZEF (EM)

12.

13.

Eﬁ /§\

2005 2004

ST

Us$’000 US$'000

FET FETE

2,208 2,095

4,008 3,777

6,216 5,872
E-FEAFAA-tNBRAHES
L EFRRARUAMES SREBR
4.8l - LLEFRI B KR EEH B
R B B AR 'E%E&%Eﬁé

TEERXFOA=ZtTHIEFEREF BN
DK °

FREF
BREABFRREARABERE AR
15 5 JEM Al )2 F B 31T 5 B R 4 7 4
HEtEQT

2005 2004
—®BHEE -TEOA
14,754 14,625
654,593 650,598
2.3 2.3
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13. Earnings per share (continued)

Diluted earnings per share was calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
share options. A calculation was done to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as
the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares)
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as
above was compared with the number of shares that would have

been issued assuming the share options have been exercised.

RABBEERA A
e FEmN (F%ET)

Profit for the year, attributable
to equity holders of the
Company (US$’000)

AEEBRERNEF
EETEAER
g E (T

LR AR E SR (TR)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue for
basic earnings per share (‘000)

Adjustment for share options ("000)

SHE S IR
B0 % R
AT (FAR)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for diluted
earnings per share (‘000)

Diluted earnings per share (US cents) &R EEF] (=)
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13.

BREN @)
SRBERVEERIAAS I EEY
BROBANBRLT  CHAEXCDBITLEE
BMEFHEEE - AARE—BEES
SEM LA BRE - AQFEREMK
TR RE RS EATE - UE
EARAFE (RAQ RN OEEFSH
BREME) MBANKROEE - U E5E
PRSI MBIE B RZ S BRERT
FEEEBRTHRNHEELE -

2005 2004
—¥THEF  —TEIMWEF
14,754 14,625
654,593 650,598
9,393 14,047
663,986 664,645
2.2 2.2



14. Staff costs (including directors’

Wages, salaries, bonus and
other allowances

Pension costs — defined
contribution plans

Pension costs — defined
benefit plans (Note 25)

emoluments)

I8 %%
Hith 2 RE

14.

TEAL K

BARERE — ER

3t )

BRERAR — EH
&M EH 8 (K2 25)

The number of persons employed at the end of the year:

Full time

Part time

-
B

2005

—ERRF
Us$’000

FET

21,507

592

567

22,666

FREB AR :

2005

—ERRF

1,065
36

1,101

ETHRFX(BREREEM)

2004
—EETNF
US$’000
FET

16,220

439

248

16,907

2004
—EETNF

774

780

“ITREFR MEER
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B HRES PRE

15. Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

94

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid/payable to

directors of the Company are as follows:

Fee:
Executive directors

Independent

non-executive directors

Other emoluments

(executive directors):

Salaries and other
allowances

Bonus

Pension costs — defined

contribution plan
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we -
WITE=E
BUFATES

H B &
(BITES) -
B REMER

EAT
BREKRA — FHE

HRETE

4

15. EENSREEEMNS

(a)

EEME

B/ ENARAREE 2B EEN

™

2005
—ERHF
Us$’000
FET

98

98

1,469
85

57

1,611

1,709

2004
—EETNF
US$’000
FET

92

92

1,456

57

1,513

1,605



15. Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (continued) 15. EERESREEEMES »)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM = (»

The emoluments of the directors were within the following

bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
(equivalent to Nil to
US$128,205)
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to US$192,308
to US$256,410)
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(equivalent to US$256,411
to US$320,513)
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
(equivalent to US$320,514
to US$384,615)
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
(equivalent to US$512,821
to US$576,923)

£ % 1,000,000/ 7T
(FHERETE128,205% 7T)

1,500,0017% 7T Z 2,000,000/ 7T
(FH% 192,308 L2
256,41037T)

2,000,001 7t & 2,500,0007% &
(FHE R 256,411F L2
320,513%7T)

2,500,001 7% 7t % 3,000,0007% 7T
(FH% 320514 L%
384,615%7T)

4,000,001 7T Z 4,500,000/ 7T
(% M512,821F LR
576,923%JT)

During the year under review, none of the directors waived

any emoluments or agreed to waive any emolument.

EEFNMENTFATEHE -

Number of directors

EEAH
2005 2004
—EREE  —FTEMT
4 4
1 1
1 1
1 1
1 1
8 8

AEEFERN  HEESHE TR
THRABREEFAME
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15. Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (continued)

96

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year under review include three (2004:
three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis above. The emoluments paid/payable to the
remaining two (2004: two) individuals during the year under

review are as follows:

Salaries and other allowances e ME M ZR

Bonus fE4L

Pension costs — defined RRE — F8
contribution plan HRET &

Their emoluments fell within the following bands:

15. EEREREEEMS @

h)y EEBEEMEES
RABBEER - NEE RS SH
$EEH  ZH(CTTWEFE: =F)
BEE EMECREXSTFR
B o AR EREERD N, B ESHR
Z(ZCETNF : MB)EENB S

T -

2005 2004
—E2ERF —ETMEF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FEx FETT
521 482
33 47
13 3
567 h32

EMEN FUATEE:

Number of individuals

A
2005 2004
—EZTRF ZETMF
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T = 2,000,000/ 7T
(equivalent to US$192,308 (B 192,308%k L&
to US$256,410) 256,410% 7) 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 Tt = 2,500,000/ 7T
(equivalent to US$256,411 (HEN256,411= T E
to US$320,513) 320,513% 1) 1 1
2 2

(c) During the year under review, no emolument was paid to the
directors of the Company or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 April 2005

Opening net book amount

Additions

Acquisition of business
and assets (Note 31)

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Exchange differences

Closing net book amount
At 30 April 2005

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

&

JiS

E-FETRF

MA=+BRLFE

MAYAREFE

NE

BBEEGLEE
(Bt 31)

&

WEER

ERER

MR B mF A

—EZRFMA=1H

XA
e

REFE

Leasehold
improvements
HEWHEEE
Us$'000
FETT

375
490

36

(26)
(168)

710

1,063

(353)

710

16. 1% - BERR®E

Furniture and
equipment
EKREREE
US$'000
FET

1,660
923

497

(142)
(952)

1,988

5,515

(3,527)

1,988

Motor
vehicles
and yacht Total
R &t
Us$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT
141 2,176
— 1,413
350 883
(2) (170)
(68) (1,188)
— 5
421 3,119
672 7,250
(251) (4,131)
421 3,119

“ITREFR MEER
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold
improvements
HEMEEE
Us$’000
FZET
At 1 May 2003 RZEE=FHA—H
Cost X AR 961
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (719
Net book amount REFE 242
Year ended 30 April 2004 BE_ZTT
MA=+HILEFE
Opening net book amount HEREFE 242
Additions NE 289
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WE—RKE AT 3
Disposals k== (21)
Depreciation charge TEEH (140)
Exchange differences EREE 2
Closing net book amount H AR BR R B 375
At 30 April 2004 RZEZTNFEMA=+H
Cost B AR 618
Accumulated depreciation 2EiNE (243)
Net book amount REFE 375
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16. ¥ - RERRE ©)

Motor
Furniture and vehicles
equipment and yacht Total
EBERERRE REREE &t
Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT FETT
3,724 339 5,024
(2,228) (177) (3,124)
1,496 162 1,900
1,496 162 1,900
872 46 1,207
77 — 80
(31) (14) (66)
(772) (54) (966)
18 1 21
1,660 141 2,176
4,521 331 5,470
(2,861) (190) (3,294)
1,660 141 2,176



17. Goodwill 17. B8

2005 2004

—EERF —EENF

us$’000 Us$’000

FEx FET

Cost X A 42,446 16,560

Accumulated amortisation RETHEGH — (379)

Net book amount BRmEEE 42,446 16,181

Opening net book amount B BRE F A 16,181 —

Acquisition of a subsidiary W —RIE AT — 16,560

Acquisition of business and WEXBEREE

assets (Note 31) (Kfa£31) 26,265 —

Amortisation charge HEER — (379)

Closing net book amount B4R ER T FE 42,446 16,181
During the year ended 30 April 2005, upon adoption of IFRS 3, REE_ZETRAFNA=Z+THILEFE &
accumulated amortisation of US$379,000 as at 30 April 2004 has RNBI BB SR S R B35 18 - RZ2E
been eliminated against the cost of goodwill (Note 2(a)). UM A=+ H R RET# 379,000 LE

R B ANYIH (AT iE2(a)) -
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17. Goodwill (continued) 17. B8 &
Impairment tests for goodwill AmERENRA
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified BMEDDEZERBELEEBRRLER M
according to country of operation and business segment. BRAWAEBERIR©EA -
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented EMESENENEEMEZI AT
below:
2005 2004
“ZEZRF ZTTWF
Sales of Provision Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total merchandise of services Total
BmHE 2 iR % &5t 7 o 85 & RHRS &t
Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 US$'000 US$'000 USs$'000
FET FET FET FET FET TFET
Hong Kong BB 26,265 16,181 42,446 — 16,181 16,181
The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined ReELEMMA B EIIRESAS
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash BEAEFEEE - fTER  MANRS
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by MEBADNBREEEEHENRAFHAYB
management covering a five-year period. JEEMETE -
Management determined financial budgets based on past EEEBRERFARAREHMBERD
performance and its expectations for the market development. The TEEIHIE I IRTEE - FTAMBIRIIT IR 4
pre-tax discount rate used is approximately 4.6% and reflects R46%  RMBEEBESENETRR -

specific risks relating to the relevant segment.
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18. Investment in a joint venture

At beginning of the year
Investment in a joint venture

Share of loss of a joint venture

At end of the year

The Group’s interest in the joint venture, which is unlisted, was as

follows:

Name

=1

CSC Consultancy Co. Ltd.
I REIRFHARABRA A

Place of
establishment

B 3L 3t B

Mainland China
A

18. R—REELEZRE

2005 2004

—EERF —EENEF

Uss$’000 Us$'000

FETT FETT

X2 182 —
E ol 5= (12) —
170 —
REERFELITaErENERNOT

Percentage of

equity interest

Principal activities held by the Group
TEXK FEEREZRERDL

Provision of business information, 50%
management consulting and
social compliance services
RHEBEA  ERFEN
RitgEELE<ral
EBR

“ITREFR MEER
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19. Trade receivables

19.

The general credit terms granted to customers range from 60 to 90

days. The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

0 to 30 days

31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts

0— 30X

31—-60X
61—90X
90K A £

o R AR

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

United States dollar
Sterling pound
New Taiwan dollar
Hong Kong dollar
Others

The fair values are approximated to the carrying amounts due to

short-term maturity.
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FEUW B 5 R K
BYTEFPZ—REE

H B 60K 290K T

Fo-RBREZHERRZEEITAT :

2005
—®enfg
Us$'000
FET

13,237
3,453
578
3,649

20,917
(609)

20,308

2004
—ZEETMF
Us$’000
FET

7,813
1,429

337
1,245

10,824
(289)

10,535

ERE SERATDIRATERSIE :

2005
—ERRF
Us$’000
FET

18,423
2,105
259

55

75

20,917

N

+
T

o

2004
—EETNF
US$’000
FET

10,046
100
454

37
187

10,824

A EEEHAE HRIANKRE S 5



20. Bank bhalances and cash

20. RITEERRES

Group Company
rE AT
2005 2004 2005 2004

—2FRFE —TTNF —BTHF —TTHEF
Us$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$000

Fixed bank deposits with  FEETFRREE B
original maturity
— Under three months  — =@l A A"
— Over three months — =@ A E
Pledged bank deposits BEFRITER
(Note 22) (KtaE22)
Other bank balances and EMiR1T4&F KR €
cash

The effective interest rate on fixed bank deposits and pledged bank
deposits was approximately 3.4% (2004: 5.9%). These deposits
have an average maturity of five years. They are included as

current assets as there is an early termination clause.

Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following

FET TET FET TET

5,562 8,747 1,009 4,833
7,000 19,379 7,000 19,379
5,000 — 5,000 —
9,761 6,743 66 564

27,323 34,869 13,075 24,776

EHRTHER LS EMBTHEROEERR
R B34% (ZFTWME : 5.9%) - ZEF
RHOFHZMALSAF  ARBERER
IR BULIIA RS EE -

RTBEEFELBRSDHEUATEEIIE -

Group Company
rE b N
2005 2004 2005 2004

—EERE —TETNF ZETHEFE —_TETNHF
Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$'000 US$’000

currencies:

United States dollar ETT
Hong Kong dollar BT
Others H A

FET TET FET TET

23,574 27,211 13,026 21,709
1,998 2,764 49 487
1,751 4,894 — 2,580

27,323 34,869 13,075 24,776
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21. Trade payables
The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0— 30X

31 to 60 days 31—60X
61 to 90 days 61—90X
Over 90 days 90K A I

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

United States dollar ETT
Hong Kong dollar BT
Others H A

The fair values are approximated to the carrying amounts due to

short-term maturity.
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21.

e B 5 BR K

ENESERFNKREDTMT

2005
—FFLF
Us$'000
FET

6,547
759
227

1,611

9,144

2004
—EETNF
USs$’000
FET

425
214
154
130

923

BN ESRATIZATERSE

2005
ST
us$’000
FET

6,210
2,918
16

9,144

NP EERERADHRIENRD S EE

+
T

o

2004
—EETNF
US$’000
FET

700
214

9

923



22.

23.

Short-term bank loan

As at 30 April 2005, short-term bank loan of US$2,300,000 (2004-:
Nil) is used for working capital purposes and is repayable within
one year. The loan is denominated in United States dollar and
bears interest at approximately 3% per annum. It was secured by
pledged bank deposit of the Company of US$5,000,000 (2004: Nil)
(Note 20).

The fair value is approximated to the carrying amount due to short-

term maturity.

Obligation under a finance lease

Minimum lease payments due:

Not later than one year TR —F

The present value of obligation under a finance lease is analysed as

follows:

Not later than one year TR —F

22.

23.

EHRITER
R-ZETRAFOA=1TH  EHRITERK
2,300,000 T (ZZEMEF : ) HFEE
EoRg  WEAR-—FREE %ZEEX
TyASETTINE - FRARIE - REEFIA
7R 2 E # #R 1715 505,000,000 7T (=
TEMEF  T)EER (HiF20) -

N

A EEEHAE HRENRE S 5 A

o

+
T

MEHERE
RAKHEE R HR -

2005 2004

ST

Us$’000 US$'000

FET FETE

— 6
RAMEARREANMT -

2005 2004

S it

Us$’000 US$'000

FET FETE

— 6
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24. Balance of consideration payable for acquisition of a 24. WE—SXHEBLAT, £¥BREEZ
subsidiary/business and assets EARKEHRE
(a) Balance of consideration payable for an acquisition of a () WIBE—FRHBLARZENRKELR

subsidiary
At 30 April 2005, the amount of the deferred consideration
payable for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in ISO
(Holdings) Limited (“ISO International”) in
2003 amounted to US$3,974,000 (2004:
US$5,961,000). Such deferred consideration is payable by
three installments of HK$15,500,000 each (equivalent to
US$1,987,000),

adjustments if the profit after taxation of ISO International

International

November

approximately subject to downward

cannot achieve the pre-determined level for each of the years
ended/ending 30 April 2004, 2005 and 2006 respectively.

The repayment schedule is as follows:

Within one year —F RN
Between one and two years —FEF
Between two and five years —FEERF

Less: Amounts due within

one year shown under 7 — A Bl B
current liabilities 2 FIE

Amounts due after one year —F1&EH 2 FOR
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-6l

REER-_TT=F1+— AWE I1SO
International (Holdings) Limited ([1SO
International] ) & & A% # & 1 2 &
ERER-_ZTERAFMNA=TH
43974000 ( T (Z T M F
5,961,000%7t) - FABELEKE D
= HIZ f + 5§ H315,500,0007% 7T (49
%R 1,987,000 7T) « WEEZT
TOFE —_EERFR_TERFME
A=+H1LEFE ISO International
BWRBREGEFREEEREZ SR
AN @B R THE -

BHHEIWMOTR
2005 2004
—EERF —EENF
Us$’000 US$’000
FET FET
1,987 1,987
1,987 1,987
— 1,987
3,974 5,961
(1,987) (1,987)
1,987 3,974



24. Balance of consideration payable for acquisition of a 24. WE—SXHEBLAT, £¥BREEZ

subsidiary/business and assets (continued) EBARKESRTE 2

(b) Balance of consideration payable for an acquisition of (h) WBEBREEZENKRESRE
business and assets
At 30 April 2005, the amount of the deferred consideration REBRZ-ZZEZEOF+Z AR
payable for the acquisition of business and assets of Tamarind Tamarind International Limited (& &
International Limited (subsequently renamed as Stirling (HK) 2% A& Stirling (HK) Limited) U 5% 2
Limited) in December 2004 amounted to US$9,679,000 BREEERNEEREZSENR =T
(2004: Nil). Such deferred consideration is payable by LHFMA=+HAE9,679,000% T
installments of HK$34,900,000 (equivalent to approximately (ZETWF ) - FHRRERER
US$4,474,000) due in July 2005, HK$20,300,000 (equivalent SHEEE SRARZES ﬁi‘tﬂ
to approximately US$2,602,500) due in July 2006 and 8 #& 34,900,000 7T (4 A &=
HK$20,300,000 (equivalent to approximately US$2,602,500) 4,474 000%€7T) - RZEFE /\itﬁ
due in July 2007, subject to downward adjustments if the profit & 3 20,300,000/ 7T (4 8 & »
after taxation of the acquired business cannot achieve the pre- 2,602,500 7T) ERZTE+F+ A
determined level for each of the years ended/ending 31 March & # 20,300,000 7t (4 2 F »®
2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively. 2,602,500%7T) * WD RIREE—Z

TRHFE —TTERER-_FTTLF=
A=+ —HLERFERKRBEBNE
PR AREEEETREZ 2 - AIR
BNZzeRBEAR T HE -

The repayment schedule is as follows: EREREXNOT
2005 2004
—EERF —ETNF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT
Within one year —F R 4,474 —
Between one and two years —FE_F 2,603 —
Between two and five years —FERF 2,602 —
9,679 —
Less: Amounts due within B mE A&
one year shown under R—F RN EH
current liabilities ZFIAR (4,474) —
Amounts due after one year R—F 1% EI 8 2 38 5,205 —
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B RS ER S BT AE
25. Post-employment henefits 25. EEERKER
Post-employment benefits were mainly contributed by the Group’s EERNBHNEIEZHAEENEENER
operation in Taiwan. Movements of post-employment benefits in Xt e RIFEEEBBERTHRARSABEN
the liability recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is as EERKENEBHHT :
follows:
2005 2004
“2THF —_TTMmF
Taiwan Others Total Taiwan Others Total
=3 | Hitr CEil =3 Hith Gl
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$000 US$'000 USs$'000
FER FER FER FET FET FET
Note Note
Hit &£ Bt et
At beginning of the year REA 953 319 1,272 755 263 1,018
Acquisition of business WEEBREE
and assets (Note 31) (Kta£31) — 131 131 — — —
Amounts charged to the AAKRKRZ &8
income statement
— Pension costs — defined  — BHRERA — T8
benefit plans R UEE
(Note 14) Wizt 14) 165 402 567 156 92 248
— Other post-employment —HibER
benefits EIREH — 55 55 — 56 56
Payments made during the year B & R{F 3R (69) (386) (455) — 91) 91)
Exchange differences ERES 58 23 81 42 (1) 41
At end of the year RELL 1,107 544 1,651 953 319 1,272
Note: frat
As required by the local law in Taiwan, the Group makes payments for post- BIEBEEEEMENRE  ASXERESFNER
employment benefits based on various percentages of employees’ gross TRES XN EERIKET - MEEENRE —
salaries. After serving a qualifying period, all employees are entitled to benefits B TEREE  HEBRERK  BERNSWFKE
on retirement, disability or death. Long-term employee benefits are provided B  REEERAERBFHREEFAF R
based on number of years of services and final average salary. The Group is e AEEFEZZEAHAREN TFREREZKE - &K
under a legal obligation to meet payments due to employees. The Group SER-ZTRFNAAREREEZEERIKER
carried out its latest actuarial valuation of the obligation for post-employment EFETRAE—AZRBEGE-

benefits to employees in Taiwan in April 2005.

108 LINMARK GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2005



25. Post-employment benefits (continuea)

Note: (continued)

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of the
post-employment benefits due under the plan in Taiwan is analysed as follows:

RAKBENEERE
REERBEE W

Present value of obligations
Unrecognised actuarial gains
Liability in the consolidated RIREEEBBERYPZAR
balance sheet

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of
the plan in Taiwan is analysed as follows:

BB RBEA
PSYE N
NEREROFEE T8

Current service cost

Interest cost

Net actuarial gains recognised
during the year

The charge for the year under review has been included in administrative
expenses.

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

e R
EHF S E X

Discount rate
Expected rate of salary increases

25.

BEEKERN &)

fat - (&)

MIREGEF BN ZEBRRBINGEE
BERFPERZSBEIMAOT

2005 2004
—senf —wmE
Us$’000 Us$'000
FETT FET
1,088 870
19 83
1,107 953
HEBEEFEARGERERBERZEESD
™
2005 2004
—sEng —zEnE
US$'000 UsS$'000
FET TET
70 66
31 31
64 59
165 156
ROBEFERNZBREIR/ITHMAX -
FRZEIERERRMOT :
2005 2004
—En4F —zEng
3.5% 3.5%
2.0% 2.0%
“ITREFR MEER

Ea
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IR EMTEE

26. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax

liabilities and when the deferred taxes related to the same fiscal

authority.

The movement in the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

At beginning of the year

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Charged/(Credited) to the
consolidated income statement
(Note 10)

At end of the year

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

under review, without taking into consideration the offsetting of

INKEEY)

Wi — KB A A
RigalamKRT Nk,

(Bt A)
(W £10)

RE#R

balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities:

At beginning of the year
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Charged/(Credited) to the

consolidated income statement

At end of the year
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INKEEY)
Wi — KB A A

RigalmkTak,/

(Bt A)

RE#K

i fE 75 1R

fid 35 IR AT FOX BT R R A A HS 3R B HH R
BEEBEARBAGERE  MELHAR
Fl— R #iEER - BMREHEEREEE

KEfE -

T 08 B 2

2005
—ERHF
Us$’000
FET

21

97

118

AEBEFEFERNEEREEERBER
(TRt REHER —RE AR R 2 &) 1

T

EERIERR

m

2004
—ETNF
US$’000
FET

18
9

(6)

21

=

Accelerated tax depreciation

0388 B4 TR
2005 2004
—EREE  —FTEMT
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FETE
21 18
— 9
99 ©)
120 21



26. Deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets:

At beginning of the year REH

Credited to the consolidated Riralzm RS
income statement FFA

At end of the year RE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through the
future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise
deferred tax assets of approximately US$4,455,000 (2004:
US$3,314,000) in respect of losses amounting to US$25,455,000
(2004: US$18,938,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry date.

26. EEFIE (&)

EERAEE -

Decelerated tax depreciation

MEBBITE
2005 2004
—EEhHF —_ZEEMF
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx Fx7T
2 _
2 _

BIERBEETARBHREMNA R EBR
REERTORMBIR M EE 2 R ER

AN - REBY E A AEUEER
RPERBIUA Z 518 25,455,000% T (= F
T4 ¢ 18,938,000% 7T) 1M e AR IE 7 1R
& E #)4,455,000% T (ZZE T M F :
3,314,000%7T) ° % FH % B 1R I & E R
B
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IR EMTEE

27. Share capital

Authorised:
2,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of US$0.02 each

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 May 2003
Issue of shares upon exercise
of share options

Repurchase of shares

At 30 April 2004
Issue of shares upon exercise
of share options (Note (a))
Repurchase of shares
(Note (b))

At 30 April 2005
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ATE

2,000,000,0008% & i
0.023% 7T 2 & Ak

BEITRER

RZEZ=FHA—
1T BB AR R 12 PR35 1T
Z R
& Bl AR 1

[ENE

H

RZEETMFEA=+H

TTEBRERATET
Z B D (K1t (a)
B iy (Mfaz b))

R-FTRFMA=T

H

27.

SN

2005
—ERRF
Us$’000
FET

40,000

Number of
shares
v - §=|
‘000

FR

647,400

7,573
(496)

654,477

3,059

(1,902)

655,634

2004
—EETNF
US$’000
FET

40,000

Nominal
value
H &
Us$'000
FET

12,948



27. Share capital (continued) 27. B (&)

Notes: Wi
(a)  During the year ended 30 April 2005, 3,059,000 share options were () HE-ZZZAFWA=ZTHILFERN -
exercised at exercise prices ranging from HK$1.60 to HK$2.55 per share 3,059,00017 i i% 1 A A& 1.60/8 7T £2.5578
to subscribe for 3,059,000 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each. TLZITEEEITE L RE SR EEO0.02% T
2.3,059,0000% & 3@ % °
(b)  During the year ended 30 April 2005, the Company repurchased its own (by BEZZTETAFOA=+TAHLEFEAR AR
shares on the Stock Exchange as follows: RIEBAZERE THRG :
Number of Price paid per share Aggregate
ordinary shares ENERER consideration
Month of repurchase of US$0.02 each Highest Lowest paid
BS B1& B ENE
BREE Us$ USs$
0.02% Tt 2 HK$ equivalent HK$ equivalent US$'000
BEA G ZEREE BT ETEME BT ETEBE FET
May 2004 538,000 2.950 0.378 2.500 0.321 188
—ZTWFLA
December 2004 400,000 2.700 0.346 2.700 0.346 139
—ZTWFE+ A
January 2005 438,000 2.800 0.359 2.775 0.356 157
—ZTTRF—A
February 2005 100,000 2.925 0.375 2.925 0.375 38
—ZTTRFZA
March 2005 150,000 2.950 0.378 2.950 0.378 57
—EERFZ=A
April 2005 276,000 2.975 0.397 2.700 0.346 100
—EERFNA
1,902,000 679
The above shares were cancelled or deemed to have been cancelled on N ERMABELEE BB HTHSRIER TN -

the date of repurchase.
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IR EMTEE

28. Share options

(a) Share options granted hy the Company

The Company’'s share option scheme

28. BRHE

(a)

(“Scheme”) was

AARARHZBRE
ARaEl s 8 ([xat8l)) )=

adopted pursuant to a resolution of the then sole shareholder
passed on 22 April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group. Under the Scheme, the
board of directors of the Company or a committee thereof may
grant options to eligible persons to subscribe for shares in the

Company.

Movements of shares options granted by the Company to

eligible persons to subscribe for shares of the Company were

EE-HENA -+ _ARBEER M
—REBBZRBREMN - FEBW
EREIMHACERALTHAER G
KRB eEL 28R - RIEZETE
ARAREFGXESTLZEGHER
BRTFEERATURBARRAR

1/'\ °

ARAETEEBALAIREARR
B zBEREZSHBERNT

as follows:
Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company
ALARBH 2 BB E
FRARZHBERGEE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at Exercise price
Date of grant 1 May 2004 Exercised Lapsed 30 April 2005 per share Exercise period
HK$
R-ZEZNE R-ZEZ1E
TA-H mMAE=+H
REAH i R AT 1% P i RAT B BRITHEE TREER
BT
21/05/2002 28,465,000 (339,000) (392,000) 27,734,000 2.550 21/05/2003 -
20/05/2008
27/06/2002 1,660,000 — — 1,660,000 2.220 27/06/2003 -
26/06/2008
06/11/2002 14,340,000 (1,560,000) — 12,780,000 1.600 06/11/2003 -
05/11/2008
30/05/2003 7,510,000 (1,160,000) — 6,350,000 2.125 30/05/2004 -
29/05/2009
30/03/2004 16,100,000 — (790,000) 15,310,000 2.975 30/03/2005 -
29/03/2010
68,075,000 (3,059,000) (1,182,000) 63,834,000
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28. Share options (continued) 28. BERE @)
(a) Share options granted by the Company (continued) () ALFREZBEBRE &

Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company

ARARRHzBRE
FRARZHBRGEHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at Exercise price
Date of grant 1 May 2003 Granted Exercised Lapsed 30 April 2004 per share Exercise period
HK$
R-B2=F R-BZTNEF
EA—-H A=+H
REAH i RAT g e P HRITE BROKEE TREEER
BT
21/05/2002 34,430,000 —  (3,613,000) (2,352,000) 28,465,000 2.550 21/05/2003 -
20/05/2008
27/06/2002 1,660,000 — — — 1,660,000 2.220 27/06/2003 -
26/06/2008
06/11/2002 18,800,000 —  (3,960,000) (500,000) 14,340,000 1.600 06/11/2003 -
05/11/2008
30/05/2003 — 7,510,000 — — 7,510,000 2.125 30/05/2004 -
29/05/2009
30/03/2004 — 16,200,000 — (100,000) 16,100,000 2.975 30/03/2005 -
29/03/2010

54,890,000 23,710,000  (7,573,000) (2,952,000) 68,075,000
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IR EMTEE

28. Share options (continued) 28. BERE @)
(b) Share options granted by Roly International, the ultimate (h) BRAERATDZREERELEZE

holding company

Under the Roly Executives’ Share Option Scheme and the
Roly (1999) Share Option Scheme (collectively referred to as
the “Roly’s Schemes”) adopted by Roly International Holding
Ltd. (“Roly International”), options were granted to employees
of the Group (including directors of the Company) for a term
of four to seven years to purchase ordinary shares of Roly
International at prices fixed according to the Roly’s Schemes.
The options are exercisable from the first or second

anniversary of the date of grant of the relevant options.

Movements of the share options granted by Roly International

i #E
REZHEBERZERERAE ([2EE
BR1) SRR 2 ETTIRA B RE AT &)
k2B (—NAANE) BRERE (5
BI2EEE])  AKREER (BREAX
RAER)ERTRARNELFNE
PeiE - A RIRE 2B EIFT EMER
BEE2HBR T AR - BRETRA
FABRER L AR E —BFHE
“BEHmRTE-

2EBERREZEAEETASERE

B (BRARAER) WBEREZHIS
SR

to employees of the Group (including directors of the
Company) under the Roly's Schemes were as follows:

Options granted by Roly International to employees of the Group
Number of underlying shares of Roly International
ZHEBRETFASEREEZERE

ERERZEBRNEE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at Exercise price
Date of grant 1 May 2004 Granted Exercised 30 April 2005 per share Exercise period
Us$
R-Z2ENF R-BEEF
TA—-H B=+H
RHAH i R AT B g 1 i RAT B BRITHEE TREER
#T
10/02/2000 1,425,000 — (1,425,000) — 0.150 10/02/2001 -
09/02/2005
21/08/2001 450,000 — (450,000) — 0.100 21/08/2002 -
20/08/2009
07/03/2002 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 0.130 07/03/2004 -
06/03/2010
22/11/2002 2,100,000 — — 2,100,000 0.138 22/11/2003 -
21/11/2008
09/05/2003 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 0.151 09/05/2004 -
08/05/2009
30/03/2004 1,400,000 — — 1,400,000 0.321 30/03/2005 -
29/03/2010
23/08/2004 — 1,600,000 — 1,600,000 0.248 23/08/2005 -
22/08/2010
9,375,000 1,600,000 (1,875,000) 9,100,000
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. Share options (continued) 28. BERE @)
(b) Share options granted by Roly International, the ultimate (h) RAEZERATNZREBRTRH 2B
holding company (continued) IR ()

Options granted by Roly International to employees of the Group
Number of underlying shares of Roly International

PHERBEFARBEREEZERE
ERERZEBRN A
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at Exercise price
Date of grant 1 May 2003 Granted Exercised 30 April 2004 per share Exercise period
Us$
R=%%= R-BERE
TA—-H mA=+H
RHAH i R AT g 1 i RAT BRITEE TREEBR
T
12/03/1999 75,000 — (75,000) — 0.100 12/03/2000 -
11/03/2004
10/02/2000 1,906,000 — (481,000) 1,425,000 0.150 10/02/2001 -
09/02/2005
21/08/2001 4,650,000 — (4,200,000) 450,000 0.100 21/08/2002 -
20/08/2009
07/03/2002 4,400,000 — (2,400,000) 2,000,000 0.130 07/03/2004 -
06/03/2010
22/11/2002 2,500,000 — (400,000) 2,100,000 0.138 22/11/2003 -
21/11/2008
09/05/2003 — 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 0.151 09/05/2004 -
08/05/2009
30/03/2004 — 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.321 30/03/2005 -
29/03/2010

13,531,000 3,400,000 (7,556,000) 9,375,000
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B H P RE
29. Reserves 29. &%
(a) Group (@) &xKHE
Capital
Share Special  redemption  Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BX

BRHEE HARE BERE EXRE RKREEN G

US$000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$000 Us$000 Us$'000

FET FET FET FET FET FET

At 1 May 2003 RZEE=FRA—H 14,933 184 — (249) 17,835 32,703

Profit for the year FEm — — — — 14,625 14,625
Premium arising from  B{TRHES

issue of shares LR 1,842 — — — — 1,842

Repurchase of shares BB 7 (168) — 10 — (10) (168)
Currency translation ENERER

differences — — — (444) — (444)

Dividends paid BERRE — — — — (5,001) (5,001)

At 30 April 2004 RZZEZEWFEWA=FH 16,607 184 10 (693) 27,449 43,557

Profit for the year FEm — — — — 14,754 14,754
Premium arising from  B{TRHES

issue of shares 2B 685 — — — — 685

Repurchase of shares BB 7 (641) — 38 — (38) (641)
Currency translation ERERESR

differences — — — (164) — (164)

Dividends paid BERRE — — — — (5,985) (5,985)

At 30 April 2005 RZEZERFWA=TH 16,651 184 48 (857) 36,180 52,206

Representing: &

2005 final dividend BE_TTHhHF

proposed R E 4,008
Others Hit 32,172
36,180
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29. Reserves (continued) 29. & (&)

(b) Company (b) A&21DF
Capital
Share  Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
&XK
B 13 % 8 BEHER B O % REEF &t

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FET FET T FET T

At 1 May 2003 R-EE=FHA—H 14,933 9,946 — 4,402 29,281
Profit for the year FEEM — — — 11,903 11,903
Premium arising from  BTRHEELZEE

issue of shares 1,842 — — — 1,842
Repurchase of shares BB 7 (168) — 10 (10) (168)
Dividends paid ERERE — — — (5,001) (5,001)
At 30 April 2004 RZETWNFEWA=1H 16,607 9,946 10 11,294 37,857
Profit for the year FEEM — — — 4,506 4506
Premium arising from  BTBRHELZEE

issue of shares 685 — — — 685
Repurchase of shares B[ {7 (641) — 38 (38) (641)
Dividends paid ERRE — — — (5,985) (5,985)
At 30 April 2005 RZEERFWA=1H 16,651 9,946 48 9,777 36,422
Representing: & :

2005 final dividend BE_ZTHhE
5

proposed RER S 4,008
Others Hib 5,769
9,777
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29. Reserves (continued) 29. & (&)

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of share capital of the Company issued and the aggregate
amount of nominal value of share capital of subsidiaries acquired
by the Company through an exchange of shares.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date on
which they were acquired by the Company, and the nominal value

of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus account of the Company is distributable to equity holders of
the Company. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is,
or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share

capital and share premium accounts.
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30.

generated from operations

Profit from operations
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Dividend income
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of goodwill
Impairment loss on club
membership
Gain on dissolution of
subsidiaries
Unrealised loss on short-term
investment
Gain on disposal of short-term
investment

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other
receivables

(Decrease)/Increase in trade
payables

Increase in accruals and
other payables

Increase in post-employment
benefits

Cash generated from operations

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation of profit from operations to cash

&= A

R
B A

B A
mE - BE &
BB E

HEME - BE R

R EE
R 5
SRBEER

R B B A W s

RHREZRER
&R
&G R E e

LA BHA D
EERDRE
fFE

8 5 R

A RE - 2R

H i & W IR R D

ENE SRR ORD)

Pl
EEtEAREAM
F& {5 3K 7R 32 A0
& 8 3 ¢ 18 711 3%

[
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e
S
=
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N
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30. FERE

&

mERME
(a) BREBFNRELERELERESHK

2005
TEET
Us$’000
FET

15,655

(1,321)
(16)

1,188

36

13

(13)

15,542

(55)

(24)

2,953

(2,039)

2,576

248

19,201

2004
—EEFF
US$’000
FET

14,772

(2,160)
(1

966

23
379

36

13

14,028

(3,770)

1,015

156

579

213

12,221
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IR EMTEE

30. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement (continued) 30. MEREREXRKT &)

(a) Reconciliation of profit from operations to cash (a) REBANHELKEMELERSHE
generated from operations (continued) * B
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from RIFEAREREERRN - DEWE - |

disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: B REERSHIARRE

2005 2004
—EERHF —ETNF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET
Net book amount (Note 16) BREFE (Mt 16) 170 66
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE K&
plant and equipment HEEE (36) (23)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWME  BEREHB
property, plant and equipment FT 18 318 134 43
(b) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow (h) HEHEEREXRAZEERES
statement comprise: LEYWERE
2005 2004
—®®EF  —TTOF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FZET
Bank balances and cash ROTEFERS 27,323 34,869
Less: Fixed bank deposits Ao =8 A R H
with original maturity 2 EHIRITHER
over three months and EEBHRRITERX
pledged bank deposits (K17E20)
(Note 20) (12,000) (19,379)
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFHEIEE 15,323 15,490
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31.

Acquisition of business and assets

In December 2004, the Group completed its acquisition of the
business and certain assets and assumption of the related liabilities
Limited
Stirling (HK) Limited), a company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
acquired business contributed revenues of US$39,365,000 and
net profit of US$1,656,000 to the Group for the period from 1
January 2005 to 30 April 2005. If the acquisition had occurred on
1 May 2004, the Group’s
US$168,568,000 and profit before allocations would have been
US$18,066,000. Details of the acquisition are summarised as

of Tamarind International (subsequently renamed as

revenue would have been

31.

follows:

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment
(Note 16)

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Post-employment benefits (Note 25)

Goodwill (Note 17)
Total consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash
Balance of consideration
payable (Note 24(b))

Analysis of the net cash outflow
in respect of the acquisition:
Cash consideration
Bank balances and cash acquired

Net cash outflow in respect
of the acquisition

W BEEFE
ME - BEMRE
(Htix 16)
& W E 5 AR R
BNFE - e REAM
& WK TR
RITEEFERBES
e 8 5 IR
FERT &M M E M B R
BB RIREN (HfaE25)

mE (MiEl7)
BmRE
A

B

e RAB Z 8858 (HY a2 24(b))

BREZBABREZRER D
FEEBOM
B R(E
BURBzRTEFLRS

BHEZRBBZRE R L FE

WBEXBREE

RZZZMFE+=A - NEBETHKUKE— /M
REB ML 2 2 R Tamarind International
Limited (EL1& 2% /& Stirling (HK) Limited) 2
¥BRETEENVAZHEMABcBE A=
TERF-A—RE-_TTRFMNA=1+H
IEHIE TBBCEBREAEEER
39,365,000% 7T 2 YA LA K 1,656,000% 7T 2
mF o REZEWENR_ZZNFRAA—H
HA1T - AKE 2 WA FE R 168,568,000%
7T 9 BE AT A 4 18,066,000% 7T © B 8
ZIEWHE 2 R IE R T

US$'000
TET

883
9,749

4,460
39
(10,260)
(1,534)
(131)
3,206
26,265

29,471

19,792
9,679

29,471

19,792
(39)

19,753

“TTRGFR AEEE 123



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR EMTEE

31. Acquisition of business and assets (continued)
The goodwill is attributable to the high profitability of the acquired
business and the significant synergies expected to arise after the
Group’s acquisition of the business and certain assets and
assumption of related liabilities of Tamarind International Limited.

The carrying amounts of the acquired business and assets
approximate their fair values.

32. Commitments
(a) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases various office premises, staff quarters,
furniture and equipment under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation

clauses and renewal rights.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

31.

32.

WBEXBREE &)
HENEEAREWEE 2 &6
AR AEBUYEE Tamarind  International
Limited 2 ¥ &E T EEWAEH B
BEEHEA ZERNBREME -

BURBEHBMNEEZREEREE A FEM

++

= oo

AiE

(a) REMEERE
AEERBETAIBHEECEHEMHEE
ZERAEEM BETES  RMAK
wi - RSHECHEY FEESZ
R EOENEB TR -

REBTATHELEHEZ AR KEE

cancellable operating leases are as follows: EREMAT :
Office premises Furniture
and staff quarters and equipment
MAZEEBENREIRFES HEMREE
2005 2004 2005 2004
“EERFE —_TEZNF ZZ2ERF —_TTNNF
Us$’000 Us$'000 uss$’000 Us$'000
FET FETT FETT FET
Not later than one year —F R 1,081 1,077 132 132
Later than one year and —FLEERFUT
not later than five years 1,176 1,349 299 492
Later than five years AFLE 326 87 15 35
2,583 2,513 446 659
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32. Commitments (continued) 32. E&E @)

(b) Capital commitments (h) EREE
The Group had the following capital commitments for the UTREAEBEHBEENE  BELER
acquisition of property, plant and equipment: 2 B REHE
2005 2004
—EZTRF ZETMF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FZET

Contracted for but not provided BRI ERETHRE

in the financial statements A R 484 169

Authorised but not contracted for B #Z#EB KR4 109 76

593 245

33. Related party transactions 33. EBEAELRS

The following transactions were carried out with related parties: AEEHEHEEATETUATRS

Identity of related parties Nature of transactions 2005 2004

FBEATHH XEHE —EEhHF —_ZEEMF

Notes Us$’000 Us$'000

Kt iF FETT FET

Turmar Limited Rental expenses (i) 131 131
BEBERRAA e X

Subsidiaries of Roly International Rental expenses (i) 67 86
2 E BB 2 8 A F HeMxX

Subsidiaries of Roly International Sales of merchandise (ii) 14 13
2B 2 M B A F 74 an 86 &

Premier Consultants Limited Consultancy fee (iif) 31 14
IR E=g

Digitech Holdings Limited Consultancy fee (iii) 15 7
B & A
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR EMTEE

33. Related party transactions (continued)
Turmar Limited is a company owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a

director of the Company, and his spouse.

Subsidiaries of Roly International are the fellow subsidiaries of the

Company.

Premier Consultants Limited and Digitech Holdings Limited are
100% and 80%, respectively, owned by Mr. Barry Richard
PETTITT, a director of ISO International (Holdings) Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Notes:
(i) Rental expenses were determined based on market rate and floor area.
(i)  Sales were based on cost plus a percentage of profit mark-up.

(iii)  Consultancy fee was charged in accordance with the terms of

agreements made between the parties.

34. Subsidiaries

R Em B (EAA)
& LK B /B8 1~ B R IR

Unlisted shares, at cost

Amounts due from subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free

and are not repayable within one year.
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33.

34.

EBREAXLRS &)
EEERARA—HHIRELE (KAQF
EF)NMNERBHEENAR -

2HERZHEBAREAARNRRNRE XK

BAF -

International

KARZEM B AR 1SO
(Holdings) Limited <~ ¥ % Barry Richard
PETTITT %t 4 » % 57 Premier Consultants
Limited % Digitech Holdings Limited ¥ %8
100% &2 80%#E & ©

Bt -
() B % R B R A -
(i) SRR IR R E P LA B -

(i)  FEARMEBERIYIZYEJT RS2 1 (R R -

Fff 18 2 7]
2005 2004
—EERF —EETNF
Us$’000 US$’000
FEx FET
9,987 9,987
26,318 15,736
36,305 25,723

EUMBRARREREER 2BXLHA
R—FAEER -



34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of which are wholly
owned by the Company, as at 30 April 2005 were as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Ko N g
CU Packaging & Design

(BVI) Limited (1)

CU Packaging & Design
Limited
REBMEERRA A

eServices (BVI) Limited (i)

eServices Limited

Ever Eagle Limited (i)

Golden Rules Enterprises
Limited (i)
mREBRAFG

IGCS Group Limited (7)

Place of incorporation/
establishment

AR AL SRR 3L i B
British Virgin Islands

REEBRES

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands
REERRES

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands
REBHBRES

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

34. WEAF
P/

(#)

—EERFMASTANHER

A (2FHRARBZ2ERBNAR) EH

m -

Issued and fully

paid share capital/

registered capital

ERTRBERE

AfER

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

Ordinary shares
HK$2
LBl 2ET

Ordinary share
Us$l
T@R1ET

Ordinary shares
HK$100,000

& 3 1K 100,0007% 7T

Ordinary share
Us$1
LB 1E T

Ordinary share
HK$1
TERLET

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

Principal activities

TEER

Investment holding
REZER

Trading of merchandise
and procurement agent
o B 5 RIRE IR

Inactive

EEE

[nactive

EEEE 0

Investment holding
KEZERKR

Investment holding

BEEK

Investment holding and provision
of social compliance services

REERIIEHRESEE
RETREBRS
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IR EMTEE

34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

MEAREME

IGCS International Limited

IGCS Limited

Inspire World Limited
ERBRAA

ISO International (BVI) Limited

Place of incorporation/
establishment

AR SR 3L e B

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands

34. WEAF

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTRERZRE
= & A

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

Ordinary shares
HK$2
LTimR2E T

Ordinary share
HK$1
LTBR1ETT

Ordinary share

(#)

Principal activities

TEER

Provision of social
compliance services
Rt esEgETh

EBR®

Provision of social
compliance services
Rt HEELETA

EERBE
Sourcing and trading
of consumer products

HEEMZIRBRES

Investment holding

REEBARES US$l HEFEK
TER1ET
ISO International (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Provision of technical
Limited BB HK$100 support and management
L A% 10075 7T services, and trading of
home lifestyle consumer
electronic products
RHERMEREERY -
RREHEEETFEMES
ISO Marketing Services Macao Ordinary shares  Inactive
(Macao Commercial B P MOP$100,000 & ##£7

Offshore) Limited
ISO T % Mk 7% CRFIBE =
RS BRA A

L 3/ 1% 100,000%) #&
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34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

MEAREME

Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited

Linmark Agency (Hong Kong)
Limited

Linmark Agency (Mauritius) Ltd

Linmark Development (BVI)
Limited

Linmark (HK) Limited
WE(FE) BR AR

Linmark International
(Bangladesh) Ltd.

Linmark International
(Hong Kong) Limited
MEBRE (B%) BRAF

Place of incorporation/
establishment

AR AL SRR 3L B
British Virgin Islands

REEBRES

Hong Kong
BB

Republic of Mauritius
EEERHHAME

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

Hong Kong
BB

Bangladesh
FalliEaTE

Hong Kong
B

34. WEAF

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTREBRZRE
&R

Ordinary shares
US$50,000
I 38 1% 50,0003 7T

Ordinary shares
HK$10,000
38 A% 10,0000 7T

Ordinary shares
Us$2
LdmiR2E T

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ZET

Ordinary shares
HK$2
LBl 2ETT

Ordinary shares
Taka20,000
I 38 A% 20,0008 <

Ordinary shares
HK$200,000
I 38 % 200,0007% 7T

(#)

Principal activities

TEER

Investment holding and
procurement agent
WEERRFEERE

Procurement agent
HERE

Procurement agent

REBAE

Procurement agent
RAEEE

Investment holding and
procurement agent
KEER R RERIE

Procurement agent

REBAE

Investment holding,
procurement agent and
trading of merchandise

BREER RERER

7 m B
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34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

MEBARAE

Linmark Merchandise
Consultancy (Shenzhen)
Limited (i)

MEEmEBHER ORI

BBR R A (i)

Linmark (UK) Limited

Linmark Westman Investments
Limited (1)

Market Asia Limited
MEEFR R A

Merchandise Creative, Inc.

Merchandise Creative Limited

Power Path Limited

BEERRAA

Tamarind Agency Limited
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

AR SR 3L e B

Mainland China
H

United Kingdom

RE

British Virgin Islands
REBHBRES

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

34. WEAF

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTRERZRE
= & A

Registered capital
RMB1,500,000
AR #1,500,0007T

Ordinary shares
£100
L3 AR 1005k 5%

Ordinary shares
Us$11
TEBIIETT

Ordinary shares
HK$1
TERLET

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

Ordinary shares
HK$10,000
38 A% 10,0000 7T

Ordinary share
HK$1
TERLET

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

(#)

Principal activities

TEER

Provision of marketing

consultancy and product

development services
TR (it T 35 HE B 78 o
2 mn & R IR 15

Provision of marketing
consultancy services
12 T 95 HE B S G AR 7

Investment holding
KEZERKR

Sourcing and trading
of consumer products
HEEMZRKBRES

Procurement agent
REEE

Procurement agent
HERE

Sourcing and trading
of consumer products

HEEMCRKBLRES

[nactive

EEEE 0



34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

MEAREME

Tamarind International
Holdings Limited (i)

Tamarind International Limited
(formerly known as Success
Giant Limited)

(T8 Success Giant Limited)

Trend Xpress (Bangladesh) Ltd.

Trend Xpress, Inc. (i)

Trend Xpress Limited
By R LA R A A

Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited

Place of incorporation/
establishment

AR AL SRR 3L B
British Virgin Islands

REEBRES

Hong Kong
BB

Bangladesh
&= NRL

British Virgin Islands

REEBARES

Hong Kong
BB

Singapore
EIRIIE

34. WEAF

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
registered capital
ERTREBRZRE
&R

Ordinary share
US$1
TER1ET

Ordinary share
HK$1
LTBR1ETT

Ordinary shares
Taka20,000
L i 1% 20,0008 <

Ordinary share
Us$1
TER1IET

Ordinary shares
HK$2
LBl 2ETT

Ordinary shares
S$2
T AR 25T I3k T

(#)

Principal activities

TEER

Investment holding
REZER

Investment holding and
trading of merchandise
KREEBRIERE S

Provision of market trend
consultancy services
IR ISR B WA AR TS

Investment holding and
provision of market trend
consultancy services

REZEREEHT S
M 1B R AR S

Investment holding,
provision of market trend
consultancy services and
trading of merchandise

REER =BHHS
A e R AR S
KEmE

Provision of market trend

consultancy services
RIS RS WA AR
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34. Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

ERTRERZRE
A B BRI R 5 A
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Thailand Ordinary shares
Ltd. (iii) R E Baht5,880,000
Preference shares
Baht6,120,000
T 38 % 5,880,000% &k
8 9t 1% 6,120,000%% &k
Westman (Singapore) Private Singapore Ordinary shares
Limited ¥ $$200,000
I 38 A% 200,000%7 A0 3 7T
Westown Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
BRERRNA B HK$100,000
38 % 100,0007%8 T

Notes: B -
(i) The shares of these subsidiaries are held directly by the Company. The (i) FiN/N
shares of other subsidiaries are held indirectly. S B

(i) Linmark Merchandise Consultancy (Shenzhen) Limited is a wholly (ii)

foreign owned enterprise established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province,

Place of incorporation/
establishment

Mainland China for a term of 15 years up to 2019.
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34. WEAF

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

(#)

Principal activities

TEER

Procurement agent
RAEEE

Procurement agent
HERE

Procurement agent

REBAE

AEERAREMBELRZED - Eit

AlZBEmBIEERE -

MEBRESHERNORID BRLAR KN
PEEREBRIIKILZIEBERE - BE

ThFE BEEZT-NFAILL-



34.

35.

36.

37.

Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) ~ The preference shares are only entitled to 3.5% of the paid-up value of
the shares, prior to any dividend distribution to the holders of ordinary
shares. The voting rights with respect to preference shares are every ten
shares for one vote. The preference shares are indirectly controlled by
the Group by way of entering into loan agreements with the respective
registered holders of preference shares. According to the loan

agreements, the registered holders as borrowers agree to execute and
deliver to the Group any proxy which may be necessary for attending and
voting in every meeting of the shareholders of Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd. and grant the Group options to purchase their shares at
the price of nominal value of the preference shares. The Group is also
responsible for managing the operations of this company. The Group
accounts for this company as a wholly owned subsidiary since the Group
is accountable for all of the results of the operations. As the Group has
no intention to request the borrowers to repay the outstanding loan
amounts, the Group accounts for their amounts to borrowers as part of
investment cost.

(iv)  None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of
the year or at any time during the year under review.

Event after the balance sheet date

On 28 June 2005, the Company’s directors proposed a final
dividend of 4.8 HK cents per share. The proposed dividend is
subject to approval by the Company’s shareholders at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

Immediate and ultimate holding company

The directors of the Company regard RGS Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as being the
immediate holding company and Roly International, a company
incorporated in Bermuda and listed on the Main Board of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, as being the

ultimate holding company.

Approval of financial statements
These financial statements were approved for issue by the board of
directors of the Company on 28 June 2005.

34.

35.

36.

37.

ff B A J ()
BisE ()

(i) EERREBRNDHBEZRKEEBHNIS% @ HE
BRIFEAGEELERRE - §TRESL
RAlZE —ERE# AAEEDHEZES
RERFEATLER BE - R EEEHIZ
SBER - BREERGE BEREFZHA
ARNBERANSGHNRAEEEABEEE
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. B X &%
REREG ERENEMETLE - WX TFAE
S RETRERTAEEEEZZE K
SEAREEROEERBARSENELR -
REBEMEEEERZARNERERE - A
RAEEAHZARNMAXEES K&
E#ZATHERZAMB AR - AR
EEEZERERANEELEROERGE
HMAREGETZEERANRIENRIKRE
B — &5 ©

(iv)  EHEB R BN F AR A @ B F E AR
M EEMNAREEZEEERN

HER#ESE
RZZEERFAA=ZF+/\RB  ARFES
BEIRERARKRETRASHEN - BIRRE
AREERRAFAE LERQRREH
HERFTAIEE -

BEERBRAERAQT

AR A E EH RGS Holdings Limited (— &
RRBEZESHMKIZRR) AEEE
BRAE - ARZEBIER (—ERBEREETM
R WRFTIMEBFRSGER ET 2R
A RERBIERAF] ©

MBRE 2 E
ARAEEREN_ZTT
AHLETEZEMBRE

FXAZHN
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5-Year Financial Summary

T F A EE

Results
E4

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other operating income

Administrative expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs

Gain on disposal/dissolution
of subsidiaries

Share of loss of a joint venture

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year, attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Dividends
Earnings per share
(US cents)

Basic
Diluted
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2X8
HHE KA

EF
Hib &2 WA
THHAX

AR 2k
MGEM

HE A

LRy INCIE 6
BE—REERE
ZER

B B A it 7
BiIA

RABIBEERA A
F& 18 F J2 ) 7

FRaN
()

2N

g

2001
—EFE—F

Us$:000
TE7T

32,491
(1,352)

31,139
1,349

(20,042)

12,446

911

13,357
(490)

12,867

8,000

2.6
N/A

-
(et
3

For the year ended 30 April
BEZOB=+HLEE

2002

— = —
— =

= —

US$'000
T

29,648
(473)

29,175
1,214

(21,821)

8,568
(2)

37

8,603
(261)

8,342

13,290

1.7
N/A

-
(Bt
Rt

2003

US$'000
T

44,294
(7,104)

37,190
1,757

(26,233)

12,714
(2)

12,712
(384)

12,328

4,920

1.9
1.9

2004
—EFETNMF
Us$’000
FET

44,338
(5,652)

38,686
2,947

(26,861)

14,772
(4)

14,768
(143)

14,625

5,872

2.3
2.2

2005
—TTIF
Us$’000
FER

89,837
(41,513)

48,324
2,443

(35,112)

15,655
(22)

13

(12)

15,634

(880)

14,754

6,216

2.3
2.2



Assets and Liabilities

EEREE
As at 30 April
ROB=+H
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
—EE—F TR -F —ZFTE=F —TTNF ZEEHF
US$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT FETT FETT FET
Total assets BELE 17,574 13,558 50,470 69,169 100,227
Total liabilities B BB (4,776) (3,572) (4,819) (12,522) (34,908)
Net assets EEFE 12,798 9,986 45,651 56,647 65,319
Note: Btat -

The results for the year ended 30 April 2001 which were extracted from the HE-ZT—FNA=-THLFEEE (BHEEHAAR
prospectus dated 30 April 2002 issued by the Company have been prepared as if the REZTZT-ZFHA=Z+HFENBRER) DERAESHE
Company had always been the holding company of the Group from the beginning of EEMARNRE  MUARFTE —FHBREATNEENE
the earliest period presented, using the pooling of interests method. R AR e
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Corporate Information
NAEIER

Executive Directors

WANG Lu Yen (Chairman)

Steven Julien FENIGER (Chief Executive Officer)
FU Jin Ming, Patrick

WONG Wai Ming

KHOO Kim Cheng

KWOK Chi Kueng

Independent Non-Executive Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

WOON Yi Teng, Eden

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Audit Committee

WANG Arthur Minshiang (Chairman of the Committee)
WOON Yi Teng, Eden

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Qualified Accountant
KWOK Chi Kueng

Company Secretary
CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
20th Floor, Office Tower One, The Harbourfront,
18 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrars and Transfer Office
The Bank of Bermuda Limited

6 Front Street,

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrars and Transfer Office
Standard Registrars Limited

Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre,

56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building,
Central, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
10th Floor, HSBC Building Tsim Sha Tsui,

82-84 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
11th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building,
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Citibank, N.A.

44th Floor, Citibank Tower, Citibank Plaza,
3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong
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Shareholder Information
IRERER

Listing Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 10 May 2002

Stock Code ; 95

Board Lot : 2,000

Par Value US$0.02

Trading Currency : HK$

Financial Calendar 2005
Financial year ended

Full year results announced
Ex-dividend date for final dividend
Register of members closed

Annual general meeting

Record date for final dividend
Despatch of dividend warrants

First quarter results to be announced
Interim results to be announced

30 April 2005

28 June 2005

15 August 2005

17-19 August 2005

19 August 2005

19 August 2005

On or about 26 August 2005

In the 3rd week of September 2005*
In the 3rd week of December 2005*

* subject to change

Final Dividend

The board recommends the payment of a final dividend of 4.8 HK
cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 April 2005. Subject to
shareholders’ approval, the final dividend will be paid in cash to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 19 August 2005.

Dividend warrants will be despatched to shareholders on or about
Friday, 26 August 2005.

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 17 August
2005 to Friday, 19 August 2005, both days inclusive. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrars not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 16 August 2005.

Shareholder Services
For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrars:

Standard Registrars Limited

Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre,
56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 2980 1768

Facsimile (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company’s shares should notify the Hong Kong branch
share registrars promptly of any change of addresses.

Investor Relations
For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Strategic Financial Relations Limited
Unit A, 29th Floor, Admiralty Centre |,
18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2527 0490
Facsimile (852) 2804 2789

=) A ZET_FRAATHERER
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LINMARK GROUP LIMITED
MEKEBRLQAF "

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REFREEMRILZERAT)

20th Floor, Office Tower One, The Harbourfront,

18 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EBNEAMEEH 185U EES K 2042

Tel E 5 : (852) 2734 0888

Fax {£& : (852) 2721 6554

http://www.linmark.com

*For identification purpose only {345
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DESIGN AND PRODUCTION: THE DESIGN ASSOCIATES LTD. www.tda.com.hk





